## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

4-21-2015 12:00 AM

# Prenatal Exposure to Bisphenol A Disrupts Fetal Liver Maturation in a Sex-Specific Manner

Bianca DeBenedictis, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Kaiping Yang, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Physiology © Bianca DeBenedictis 2015

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Other Physiology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

DeBenedictis, Bianca, "Prenatal Exposure to Bisphenol A Disrupts Fetal Liver Maturation in a Sex-Specific Manner" (2015). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 2772. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/2772

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### PRENATAL EXPOSURE TO BISPHENOL A DISRUPTS FETAL LIVER MATURATION IN THE MOUSE IN A SEX-SPECIFIC MANNER

(Thesis format: Monograph)

by

Bianca DeBenedictis

Graduate Program in Physiology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Bianca DeBenedictis 2015

#### Abstract

Developmental exposure to BPA is associated with liver dysfunction and diseases in adulthood. However, the effects of BPA on liver development are unknown. To address this question, pregnant mice were exposed to BPA via diet from embryonic day 7.5 (E7.5) to E18.5. At E18.5, fetal livers were collected, and analyzed for changes in the expression of key hepatic maturation markers. We found the following significant protein alterations in BPA-exposed female but not male fetal livers: (*a*) mature hepatocyte markers, albumin and glycogen synthase, were decreased; (*b*) immature hepatocyte marker, alpha-fetoprotein, was increased; (*c*) master transcription factor of hepatocyte differentiation, C/EBP- $\alpha$ , was down-regulated; and (*d*) PCNA (cell proliferation marker) was elevated, while caspase-3 (marker of apoptosis) was reduced. These findings demonstrate that prenatal exposure to BPA disrupts molecular maturation of the mouse fetal liver in a sex-specific manner, and suggest that females are more vulnerable to BPA-induced liver dysfunction and diseases.

## Keywords

Bisphenol A (BPA), liver development, hepatocyte maturation, sex-specific effect, hepatic dysfunction and disease, albumin, glycogen synthase, alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), CCAAT/ enhancer binding protein alpha (C/EBP- $\alpha$ ), PCNA, caspase-3, proliferation, apoptosis

## Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Kaiping Yang, whose expertise, guidance, and patience has been invaluable to me throughout this whole experience. Thank you for continually challenging me to think critically, for encouraging me to step out of my comfort zone, and for reminding me that failure is an inherent part of the learning process. It is under your direction that I have discovered the confidence in my capacity to grow, both academically and personally. You have taught me that true progress can only be achieved through the willingness to temporarily surrender familiar, but limiting patterns, and I will carry that lesson with me through the rest of my life endeavors.

I would also like to extend my sincerest appreciation to Haiyan Guan, who consistently went above and beyond what was required of her. Thank you for your technical assistance, your helpful revisions, and for the seemingly endless hours of troubleshooting. Most importantly, thank you for sticking by my side through thick and thin. I have truly valued you every step of the way, as both a mentor and a friend.

In addition, I would like to thank my fellow colleagues: Samantha Medwid, Ayten Hijazi, and Maria Cernea. I feel so lucky to have had the pleasure of working with each one of you on a daily basis. Your friendships have come to mean more to me than words can describe. Thank you for your unwavering support and motivational words that have gotten me through so much. This was truly a team effort and I attribute much of my success to you.

Moreover, thank you to the members of my advisory committee, Dr. Timothy Regnault and Dr. Daniel Hardy, for taking the time to provide me with such helpful insight

iii

and useful suggestions. Your guidance has been extremely valuable to me, and I deeply appreciate it.

Last but certainly not least, I would like to thank my mom, my dad, and my sister, who inadvertently carry me through everything I have accomplished in this life, and will continue to do so for all that I have yet to undertake. Thank you for always believing in me, and for providing me with such infinite love and support that I have never once taken for granted.

Abstractii
Acknowledgmentsiii
Table of Contents
List of Tables
List of Figures ix
List of Abbreviations x
Chapter 1 – Introduction
1.1 Bisphenol A 1
1.1.1 Pharmacokinetics
1.1.2 Mechanisms of Action
1.1.3 Dose-Response and Low-Dose Effects
1.2 BPA During Pregnancy
1.2.1 Developmental Origins of Health and Disease
1.2.2 Fetal Exposure to BPA9
<i>1.3 The Liver</i> 10
1.3.1 Physiological Functions 11
1.3.2 Cellular Architecture
1.3.3 Sexual Dimorphism 16
1.4 Fetal Liver Development
1.4.1 Hepatic Specification and Liver Bud Formation17
1.4.2 Differentiation of Hepatic Progenitor Cells
1.4.3 Functional Maturation of Hepatocytes
1.4.4 Transcriptional Regulation
1.4.5 C/EBP-α

# Table of Contents

1.5 Rationale, Objectives, and Hypothesis	26
1.5.1 Rationale	26
1.5.2 Objectives	27
1.5.3 Hypothesis	28
Chapter 2 – Methodology	29
2.1 Animal Experiments	29
2.2 Genotyping PCR	30
2.3 Histology	30
2.4 Protein Extraction and Western Blot Analysis	30
2.5 Statistical Analysis	32
Chapter 3 – Results	34
3.1 Effects of BPA on Fetal Body Weight, Litter Size, and Sex Ratio	34
3.2 Effects of BPA on Fetal Liver Histology	36
3.3 Effects of BPA on Albumin Protein Expression	38
3.4 Effects of BPA on Glycogen Synthase Protein Expression	40
3.5 Effects of BPA on AFP Protein Expression	42
3.6 Effects of BPA on C/EBP-α Protein Expression	44
3.7 Effects of BPA on PCNA Protein Expression	46
3.8 Effects of BPA on Caspase-3 Protein Expression	48
Chapter 4 – Discussion	50
4.1 Dosage	50
4.2 BPA Decreases Albumin Protein Expression in Fetal Female Livers	51
4.3 BPA Decreases Glycogen Synthase Protein Expression in Fetal Female Livers	52
4.4 BPA Increases AFP Protein Expression in Fetal Female Livers	53
4.5 BPA Decreases C/EBP-α Protein Expression in Fetal Female Livers	53

4.6 BPA Increases Cell Proliferation Marker PCNA in Fetal Female Livers	55
4.7 BPA Decreases Apoptotic Marker Caspase-3 in Fetal Female Livers	56
4.8 Sex-Specific Effects	58
4.9 Conclusions	60
4.10 Limitations & Future Directions	60
References	66
Curriculum Vitae	88

# List of Tables

Table	Title	Page
1-1	Adult Liver Cell Types and Respective Functions	12

# List of Figures

Figure	Title	Page
1-1	Simplified Schematic Diagram of Hepatic Cellular Architecture	15
1-2	Differentiation Markers of Hepatic Progenitor Cells	20
1-3	Expression Profiles of Hepatocyte Maturation Markers	23
2-1	Experimental Design	33
3-1	Effects of BPA on Fetal Body Weight, Litter Size, & Sex Ratio	35
3-2	Effects of BPA on Fetal Liver Histology	37
3-3	Effects of BPA on Albumin Protein Expression	39
3-4	Effects of BPA on Glycogen Synthase Protein Expression	41
3-5	Effects of BPA on AFP Protein Expression	43
3-6	Effects of BPA on C/EBP-α Protein Expression	45
3-7	Effects of BPA on PCNA Protein Expression	47
3-8	Effects of BPA on Caspase-3 Protein Expression	49
4-1	Proposed Mechanism	65

# List of Abbreviations

AFP	alpha-fetoprotein	
AR	androgen receptor	
BEC	biliary epithelial cell	
BPA	bisphenol A	
BPA-GA	BPA-glucuronide	
C/EBP	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein	
СК	cytokeratin	
DOHaD	Developmental Origins of Health and Disease	
Е	embryonic day	
EDC	endocrine-disrupting chemical	
EGF	epidermal growth factor	
EHBD	extrahepatic bile duct	
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency	
ER	estrogen receptor	
ERR	estrogen-related receptor	
ES	embryonic stem	
G6Pase	glucose-6-phosphatase	
GR	glucocorticoid receptor	
GS	glycogen synthase	

H&E	hematoxylin and eosin
НСС	hepatocellular carcinoma
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
HNF	hepatocyte nuclear factor
IHBD	intrahepatic bile duct
LOAEL	lowest observed adverse effect level
NOAEL	no observed adverse effect level
NMDRC	non-monotonic dose response curve
OC	Onecut
OSM	oncostatin M
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PEPCK	phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase
PFA	paraformaldehyde
PN	postnatal day
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
STM	septum transversum mesenchyme
SULT	sulfotransferase
TGF	transforming growth factor
TR	thyroid receptor

UDP-glucuronyltransferase

UGT

## Chapter 1 – Introduction

#### 1.1 Bisphenol A

Bisphenol A (BPA) is a prominent endocrine-disrupting chemical (EDC) that has fueled major public health concerns due to its association with a wide range of metabolic, reproductive, cardiovascular, and neurological disorders as well as cancer [1-3]. It is one of the highest volume chemicals produced in the world, with over 8 billion pounds being produced annually [4]. As a building block of polycarbonate plastics, as well as a major component of epoxy resins [4-6], BPA is used extensively in the manufacture of a number of consumer goods and products, including reusable food and beverage containers, dental sealants, polyvinyl chloride stretch films, tin can linings, cardboards, and papers used in register receipts [1,4,6,7]. Consequently, BPA has also been detected in water, dust, as well as indoor and outdoor air samples [1,8]. Because BPA is ubiquitously present in the environment, it can exert its harmful effects through multiple routes of exposure including ingestion, inhalation, and dermal absorption [1,8]. Humans are most commonly exposed to BPA via diet [9], as free (active) BPA has a tendency to leach out of food and beverage containers, routinely entering our food and drinks [4,6,10].

## 1.1.1 Pharmacokinetics

Following ingestion, BPA is absorbed from the intestines and transported to the liver to be metabolized by glucuronidation during first-pass metabolism [11,12].

Unconjugated BPA is rapidly metabolized into inactive BPA glucuronide (BPA-GA) via UDP-glucuronyltransferases (UGTs), most notably UGT2B1, as well as into inactive BPA sulfate metabolites via sulfotransferase (SULT) enzymes [8,13]. BPA metabolism is similar between humans, non-human primates, and rodents in that the major metabolite formed is BPA-GA, accompanied by small amounts of BPA sulfate [11]. However, one species difference exists in terms of BPA elimination. In humans and non-human primates, BPA is cleared from the blood and excreted via the renal system, whereas in rodents, BPA conjugates are eliminated primarily in the feces via bile, with only small amounts excreted in the urine [12]. This species difference in route of clearance has led some to speculate that levels of BPA clearance must also be vastly different between humans and rodents. However, Taylor et al. have confirmed that oral administration results in similar internal exposures to unconjugated BPA in primates and rodents, with a virtually identical rate of clearance [12]. Other studies have also established that the pharmacokinetics of BPA are comparable between humans and rodents [12,14], and regulatory agencies have subsequently deemed rodent models appropriate for assessing the effects of BPA [14].

It has been previously assumed that following oral ingestion, first-pass metabolism of BPA is complete with virtually all ingested BPA being conjugated in the liver [15], attenuating the need for concern in regards to potential health effects underlying BPA exposure. However, this assumption surfaced mainly from the findings of one single study that failed to detect unconjugated BPA in human plasma and urine samples [12]. Importantly, this study was characterized by fundamental design flaws including a limited sample size as well as the use of a relatively insensitive assay [15]. More recent findings from pharmacokinetic studies using both mice [16] and primates [12] have demonstrated that first-pass metabolism is in fact incomplete. Results from several biomonitoring studies in humans also indicate internal BPA exposure, given that measurable concentrations of unconjugated BPA are detected in urine [17], which suggests the following: (a) first-pass metabolism is not complete; (b) a portion of BPA entering the body circumvents first-pass metabolism; and/or (c) BPA metabolites are being deconjugated in the body [14,17]. Indeed, studies using rodents have found that a portion of conjugated BPA undergoes deconjugation via enzymes in the intestine and colon [8]. Glucuronidase enzymes are also apparent in the digestive tracts of humans, especially those of infants, likely indicating their ability to deconjugate and re-activate conjugated BPA [8].

The relative bioavailability of BPA is largely dependent upon route of administration. While orally administered BPA is subject to first-pass metabolism, BPA administered via other routes will bypass this process, leading to higher concentrations of active BPA in circulation [14]. For instance, compared to oral administration, systemic blood concentrations of BPA are markedly higher following subcutaneous or intraperitoneal injection, which indicates higher bioavailability [18]. These findings provide a likely explanation for why the relative potency of BPA is also dependent on exposure route. For example, subcutaneous BPA administration tends to yield effects at much lower doses compared to other routes of exposure [15].

#### 1.1.2 Mechanisms of Action

According to the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), an EDC is defined as "an exogenous agent that interferes with the production, release, transport, metabolism, binding, action, or elimination of natural hormones in the body responsible for the maintenance of homeostasis and the regulation of developmental processes" [7]. BPA is most commonly referred to an estrogenic EDC because of its ability to disrupt the activity of endogenous estrogens [7]. Estrogens are a group of steroid hormones derived from cholesterol [1], and are critically involved in regulating the growth, differentiation, and function of a number of different target tissues [19]. While estrogens diffuse in and out of all cells, they are retained with high affinity and specificity in target cells via interaction with the estrogen receptor (ER) [1]. The ER is located mainly in the cell nucleus where, once bound by an estrogen, it will undergo a conformational change and bind to response elements in the promoter region of certain estrogen target genes [19,20]. As a result, coregulatory proteins (coactivators or corepressors) are recruited to the promoter region of the target gene, leading to a respective increase or decrease in mRNA levels and associated protein production [21]. ER can also act via non-genomic mechanisms, as outlined by Deroo et al. [21]. In mammals, the two major ER subtypes are ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ . These subtypes are encoded by separate genes (ESR1 and ESR2, respectively), and exhibit distinct tissue-specific expression patterns [21]. In tissues where they are coexpressed,  $ER\alpha$  and  $ER\beta$  can sometimes exert differential effects, and can also influence the actions of one another [22].

It is well established that upon binding to nuclear ER, BPA can induce estrogenic signals that modify estrogen-responsive gene expression [7]. BPA can bind to both ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , with a ten times higher affinity for ER $\beta$  [2]. Specifically, BPA has been shown to act as an agonist for ER $\beta$ , while demonstrating dual effects as an agonist and antagonist in some cell types via ER $\alpha$  [23]. Hence, the activity of BPA is largely dependent on ER subtype and cell type, which can be partially attributed to the differential effect of BPA on the recruitment of coactivator proteins by ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  [7,24].

BPA has been classified as a weak estrogen based on its low binding affinity for ER compared to naturally-occurring  $17\beta$ -estradiol (~10,000-fold lower) [14,25]. Previously, this has led to the notion that BPA might be unable to create an impact in the midst of the already strong effects of endogenous estrogens. However, Rajapakse et al. demonstrate that the combination effect of estradiol and BPA is in fact additive [26]. The spare receptor hypothesis describes how typically, a maximal biological response can be achieved by low concentrations of a hormone, well before receptor occupancy becomes saturated [14]. The presence of these "spare receptors" provides a mechanism for why low doses of an EDC such as BPA might exert a response, regardless of its low affinity for the receptor [25]. In addition, BPA has been shown to interact with ER in a nonclassical manner that is distinct from other known groups of ER ligands [25,27], leading to the induction of a unique subset of ER-responsive genes and associated physiological responses [28]. Moreover, while BPA is less potent than estradiol upon binding to nuclear ER, its potency is evidenced to be just as high as that of estradiol when its action is mediated by ERs outside the nucleus [7].

Importantly, the endocrine disrupting actions of BPA extend beyond its ability to modulate the activity of endogenous estrogens. More recently, it has become apparent that BPA can bind to the androgen receptor (AR) and thyroid receptor (TR) as an antagonist [29]. In addition, BPA can bind to the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) as both an agonist and antagonist [30,31], and has also been shown to possess strong binding affinity for the estrogen-related receptor  $\gamma$  (ERR $\gamma$ ) [32]. In addition, BPA can act via variety of intracellular signal transduction pathways directly via mechanisms independent of nuclear hormone transactivation [7,8]. Certain metabolites of BPA have even been suggested to be more potent than the parent compound itself [33].

## 1.1.3 Dose-Response and Low-Dose Effects

Typically, regulatory testing of a chemical involves the establishment of a lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL), which is the lowest dose at which an adverse effect is observable, and/or a no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL), defined as the highest exposure level at which no observable adverse effects are present [14]. After a series of calculations, a reference dose is then produced which becomes the allowable exposure level that is deemed safe for humans [14]. This standard procedure was based on one of the traditional notions in toxicology being that "the dose makes the poison". This idea implies that the larger the dose of a chemical substance, the greater the physiological response. However, studies of EDCs have challenged this concept, including those of BPA, demonstrating that low-dose effects exist which cannot be predicted by the effects observed at high doses [14]. This is due to the fact that BPA and other EDCs often exhibit non-monotonic versus monotonic dose-response relationships [34]. Monotonic dose response curves can be linear or non-linear, but the sign of the slope remains constant. In contrast, non-monotonic dose response curves (NMDRCs) present as U-shaped or inverted U-shaped curves, with the sign of the slope changing from positive to negative (or vice-versa) at some point of along the range of examined doses [14]. In other words, BPA's action (or lack thereof) at low doses cannot simply be inferred by the presence or absence of an effect of BPA at a higher dose [34,35]. Thus, the traditional approach of using high-dose testing regimens to assess chemical safety at low doses is particularly problematic for EDCs.

This issue reinforces the importance of environmentally relevant doses in studies examining the effect of an EDC. In animal models, an administered dose of a chemical that creates internal concentrations within the range of what has been measured in the general human population is considered "environmentally relevant" [14]. Environmentally relevant doses are considered "low doses", and the biological effects that arise from environmentally relevant doses are often referred to as "low-dose effects". Importantly, epidemiological studies have repeatedly linked low doses of BPA to adverse health and increased disease prevalence in the general population [14].

## 1.2 BPA During Pregnancy

EDCs can elicit different effects depending on the life stage during which an animal is exposed [36]. After puberty, exposure to EDCs results mainly in "activational effects", which are transient and generally reversible. Conversely, during critical periods of development, EDCs may exert permanent "organizational effects" that persist even in the absence of subsequent exposure [36]. Exposure to BPA during pregnancy is of particular concern, as fetal organs are undergoing critical developmental processes. Previous studies indicate that BPA reaches the fetus during pregnancy, and exposure to BPA *in utero* has been shown to alter the development of several fetal organs, including the brain [37,38], heart [39], mammary glands [40–42], ovaries [43,44], uterus [45], testes [46], and lungs [47].

#### 1.2.1 Developmental Origins of Health and Disease

The Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) concept describes how early life environmental perturbations can exert programming effects on the fetus, leading to permanent changes in the body's structure, function, and metabolism, and increasing the risk for disease later in life [48]. This hypothesis was first proposed by David Barker in the 1980's, who revealed that the starvation of Dutch pregnant women during World War I was correlated with an increased risk for adult-onset of cardiovascular and metabolic disease in their underweight offspring [49]. This association was subsequently confirmed in a number of worldwide longitudinal studies [50], and undernutrition during gestation was considered an important early fetal origin of cardiovascular and metabolic disorders [48]. As the DOHaD gradually gained acceptance, the focus of research expanded to incorporate a number of other factors during gestation that might exert programming effects on the fetus [51].

It has now become clear that many diseases have their origins during fetal development [51]. The prenatal period is considered especially critical given the increased sensitivity of tissues undergoing growth, differentiation, and physiological maturation [49]. Accordingly, the fetus is especially vulnerable to the adverse effects of EDCs, such as BPA. Environmental influences do not usually result in significant defects or malformations that are apparent at birth, but rather manifest as subtle functional changes (increased cell numbers, altered gene expression, etc.) that increase the risk for dysfunction and diseases later in life [49]. Sex-specific effects may also apparent as early as in the developing fetus [49].

#### 1.2.2 Fetal Exposure to BPA

One of the major functions of the placenta is to act as a barrier for the fetus against xenobiotics such as drugs and other compounds [52]. However, the placenta seems to serve as a rather ineffective barrier against BPA. Due to its high lipid-solubility, free BPA can rapidly cross the placenta in both directions, mainly via passive diffusion [53,54]. Although the placenta expresses UGTs and SULTs, studies have shown that only negligible amounts of BPA are conjugated by the placenta [54]. Moreover, BPA has been detected in maternal blood, umbilical cord blood, fetal blood, placental tissue, and amniotic fluid [52,54–56], suggesting that BPA reaches the fetus during pregnancy.

During fetal development, endogenous estrogens are predominantly bound to alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), a high affinity binding protein produced by the fetal liver [14,57]. Accordingly, the developing fetus is protected from excessive estrogen exposure, as relatively low levels of endogenous estrogens circulate as the free, biologically active form [57]. Conversely, BPA possesses a limited binding capacity for AFP [57]. Thus, although BPA possesses a lower affinity for ER compared to estradiol, its estrogenic effects *in utero* are suggested to be greater than would be expected, given that a higher proportion of BPA circulates as the free, biologically active form [57]. Moreover, the Oatp and Mrp family of transporters have been implicated in the maternal-fetal transport of BPA-GA, the concentration of which is reportedly elevated in maternal blood of pregnant women for the entire gestational period [3]. Specifically, studies have shown that BPA-GA is carried from maternal blood vessels to trophoblast cells by the Oatp4a1 (influx) transporter, and then transported to fetal cells from trophoblasts via the Mrp1 (efflux) transporter [52]. Since these metabolites are watersoluble, they are less able to cross the placenta and once excreted in fetal urine, are trapped in amniotic fluid with the potential to be swallowed and re-circulated in the fetus [53]. Although BPA-GA is an inactive metabolite, fetal tissues possess the ability to deconjugate BPA-GA to active BPA via the enzyme  $\beta$ -glucuronidase [52]. The majority of deconjugation occurs in the fetal liver [52], which also represents the major site of BPA accumulation [58]. Deconjugation is also evident in the heart, but to a much smaller degree [52]. This, in combination with the limited drug metabolizing system of the fetus [52,55], further exacerbates fetal exposure to BPA.

#### 1.3 The Liver

The liver is the largest internal organ, accounting for 2-5% of total body mass [59], and is responsible for carrying out a number of exocrine, endocrine, and metabolic functions [60,61] that are essential for the maintenance of overall homeostasis [62,63]. Structurally, the liver is characterized by a complex tissue architecture that is critical for normal hepatic function [59]. The liver also possesses the remarkable capacity to completely regenerate when up to 70% of its volume is removed [60].

## 1.3.1 Physiological Functions

Hepatocytes are major functional cells of the liver and account for approximately 80% of total liver volume. One of the key functions of hepatocytes is the production of proteins, including albumin (25% of hepatic protein production), lipoproteins, globulins, clotting factors, and certain hormones [64]. Hepatocytes also produce bile for the purpose of aiding in the absorption of fats as well as the excretion of other water-insoluble substances [64]. Subsequent to its production in the liver, bile is transported to the gall bladder for storage until being released into the small intestine during a meal. One of the most critical functions of the liver is the regulation of blood glucose levels. The liver is the major site of gluconeogenesis [64]. Additionally, hepatocytes will store excess glucose as glycogen after a meal, where its synthesis and degradation is hormonally regulated to maintain whole-body blood glucose requirements [64,65]. The liver is also essential for the metabolism of other dietary compounds, as well as detoxification, urea metabolism, and cholesterol synthesis and transport [59,60].

The remaining 20% of the liver is made up of a diverse group of non-parenchymal cells that function in concert with hepatocytes, including biliary epithelial cells (BECs; also known as cholangiocytes), endothelial cells, Kupffer cells (macrophages), stellate cells, and pit cells (natural killer cells) [59]. **Table 1-1** summarizes each cell type and their respective functions.

Cell Type	Population (%)	Position	Function(s)
			- Protein production & secretion
			- Bile production & secretion
			- Glucose metabolism
Hepatocyte	~80%	Parenchyma	- Glycogen metabolism & storage
			- Detoxification
			- Cholesterol metabolism
			- Urea metabolism
			- Bile transport
Cholangiocyte	~3%	Bile duct epithelium	- Water & bicarbonate secretion
Endothelial cells	~3%	Vasculature	<ul> <li>Form walls of veins, arteries, venules, arterioles</li> <li>Control blood flow</li> </ul>
Kupffer cells	~2%	Sinusoids	- Specialized Macrophages
Stellate cells	~1.5%	Perisinusoidal	- Vitamin A & retinoid storage
Pit cells	rare	Sinusoidal lumen	- Cytotoxic activity

**Table 1-1**. **Adult Liver Cell Types and Respective Functions.** Hepatocytes are the major functional cells of the liver and account for approximately 80% of total liver volume. The rest of the liver is made up of a diverse group of cell types that function in concert with hepatocytes.

## 1.3.2 Cellular Architecture

The intrahepatic bile duct (IHBD), portal vein, and hepatic artery run in parallel within the liver, and are collectively referred to as the portal triad [60] (**Figure 1-1**). Each portal triad marks roughly one of six corners of the liver lobule, the basic architectural unit of the liver, which consists of single sheets of hepatocytes (hepatic plates) lined by sinusoidal capillaries [59] (**Figure 1-1**). The lobule is supplied with blood by the portal vein and hepatic artery which, after flowing through the sinusoidal capillaries, exits the lobule via the central vein [59] (**Figure 1-1**). The portal vein sends blood directly to the basal surface of hepatocytes, where the absorption of metabolites and toxins occurs [60]. Hepatocytes are adjoined via tight junctions that form a canaliculus, which receives bile secreted from the apical surface. Bile is then carried through the IHBDs and extrahepatic bile ducts (EHBDs) to the gall bladder for storage [59,60].

The smallest functional unit of the liver is the hepatic acinus, which is positioned between two portal triads, and extends outwards in both directions towards the central veins [66] (**Figure 1-1**). The acinus is divided into three separate zones that each consist of hepatocytes specialized for slightly different functions. Zone 1 is defined according to its proximity to the portal triad. These hepatocytes are exposed to blood with the highest nutrient and oxygen concentrations, and consequently perform the majority of the liver's metabolic functions (glycogenesis, gluconeogenesis, lipid metabolism, and protein synthesis) [66]. Hepatocytes in Zone 3 are positioned closest to the central vein, and are responsible for carrying out glycolysis, urea synthesis, and biotransformation reactions [66]. Lastly, the functions of hepatocytes in Zone 2 depend mainly on their relative proximity to Zones 1 and 3.



portal vent
hepatic artery
bile duct

**Figure 1-1. Simplified Schematic Diagram of Hepatic Cellular Architecture.** The IHBD, portal vein, and hepatic artery make up the portal triad, which marks roughly one of six corners of the liver lobule. Each lobule consists of a central vein from which hepatic plates radiate out. Sinusoidal capillaries are located in between plates of hepatocytes (not shown). The hepatic acinus is positioned between two portal triads, and extends outwards in both directions towards the central veins.

## 1.3.3 Sexual Dimorphism

The liver is known to exhibit a considerable degree of sexual dimorphism. For example, metabolic function of the liver is known to be markedly sexually dimorphic, which mainly reflects underlying sex differences in the hepatic expression of enzymes such as cytochromes P450, UDP-glucuronosyltransferases, and sulfotransferases [67]. Such enzymes are essential for the metabolism of drugs, fatty acids, environmental toxins, and steroids [67]. Accordingly, the prevalence of a variety of diseases tends to differ between males and females [68]. These patterns are largely mediated by sexspecific secretions in endogenous hormones such as androgens, estrogens, and growth hormone [69].

#### 1.4 Fetal Liver Development

During early gestation, the fetal liver functions largely as a hematopoietic organ [70]. By embryonic day (E) 12.5, the fetal liver is considered the primary site of hematopoiesis [70], with a peak in hematopoietic activity apparent at E13.5 [71]. By E16.5, the major site of hematopoiesis switches to the bone marrow and spleen, at which point the liver begins to acquire its metabolic phenotype [71].

#### 1.4.1 Hepatic Specification and Liver Bud Formation

In the mouse, liver development begins after formation of the definitive gut endoderm at around E8.5 [72,73]. This corresponds to approximately 3 weeks of gestation in the human [61]. The foregut endoderm receives signals from the cardiac mesoderm, septum transversum mesenchyme (STM), and neighbouring endothelial cells that are necessary for hepatic specification [72,74] and subsequent formation of the liver bud [72,75]. Additionally, commitment of the ventral endoderm to a hepatic fate and subsequent liver bud morphogenesis involve the establishment of an essential, complex network of transcription factors [59].

The developing embryonic liver first appears as the hepatic diverticulum (E8.5 to E9), a thickened outward extension of the ventral epithelium which is lined by a basement membrane of endothelial cells [60]. Newly specified pre-hepatic cells are called hepatoblasts, bipotential and proliferative hepatic progenitor cells that are capable of giving rise to either hepatocytes or cholangiocytes [61]. Hepatoblasts in the liver bud already begin to express serum protein genes specific to hepatocytes [75]. Following

hepatic specification, the surrounding basement membrane is lost (E9.5) and hepatoblasts migrate as cords to invade the surrounding STM, forming the liver bud [72]. During this time, considerable liver growth is apparent due to rapid proliferation of hepatoblasts as well as increased hematopoietic activity. The STM and hepatic mesenchyme secrete a variety of growth factors that are important for hepatoblast proliferation and migration [60]. In addition, signals that prevent apoptosis and promote cell survival further support liver bud expansion and differentiation [76].

#### 1.4.2 Differentiation of Hepatic Progenitor Cells

Differentiation of bipotential hepatoblasts is initiated at around E13 to E14.5 [60,61,71]. The number of bipotential hepatoblasts gradually reduces as they eventually become unipotent and irreversibly committed to either the hepatocyte or cholangiocyte cell lineage. The majority of parenchymal hepatoblasts will differentiate into hepatocytes, while those residing next to portal veins will become cholangiocytes, which form the luminal epithelium of IHBDs [61]. The correct overall balance between these two cell types is achieved by integrated signaling and transcriptional pathways [75] which act to either induce or repress mechanisms that direct the cell fate of hepatic progenitors [73]. The status of differentiating hepatic progenitor cells can be generally determined with the use of the following respective cell markers: (1) bipotential hepatoblasts express AFP, albumin, and cytokeratin (CK)-19; (2) hepatocytes express AFP and albumin, but not CK-19; and (3) BECs express CK-19, but neither albumin nor AFP [77,78] (**Figure 1-2**). Following differentiation into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes, both cell types will

undergo proliferation to achieve proper liver size [79]. Apoptosis (programmed cell death) is also essential for shaping the liver and controlling overall cell population [80].

Hepatoblasts initially express genes associated with BECs as well as fetal and adult hepatocytes (**Figure 1-2**). Differentiation into cholangiocytes is initiated by signals from the portal mesenchyme (Wnt, TGF $\beta$ ) to which adjacent hepatoblasts respond, which act to promote BEC-specific transcription factors (OC1, OC2, HNF1 $\beta$ ) and suppress hepatogenic transcription factors (HNF4, C/EBP). This results in an upregulation of CK, and a decrease in the expression of genes specific to hepatocytes [60] (**Figure 1-2**). Other factors continue to be secreted by the portal mesenchyme for successful bile duct formation to proceed (Jagged/Notch, EGF, HGF) [60]. During transformation into cholangiocytes, periportal hepatoblasts form a monolayer, then a bilayer of BEC cuboidal precursors, and by E17 and into the perinatal period, the portal mesenchyme begins to surround focal points depicted in the bilayer of biliary precursor cells, while the remaining bilayer cells regress [60].

Conversely, hepatoblasts in the parenchyma do not receive signals from the portal mesenchyme, which causes them to downregulate BEC-associated gene expression, while allowing them to maintain the expression of genes specific to hepatocytes [60] (**Figure 1-2**). By E17, hepatocytes will acquire their characteristic morphology [60], while functional maturation will resume until after birth.



**Figure 1-2. Differentiation Markers of Hepatic Progenitor Cells.** Bipotential hepatoblasts initially express genes associated with BECs as well as fetal and adult hepatocytes. Hepatic progenitor cells differentiating into cholangiocytes will upregulate genes associated with BECs, while downregulating hepatocyte-specific genes. In contrast, hepatic progenitor cells differentiating into hepatocytes will downregulate BEC-associated gene expression, while upregulating hepatocyte-specific genes.

## 1.4.3 Functional Maturation of Hepatocytes

Subsequent to lineage segregation and commitment, immature/transitional hepatocytes gradually differentiate into mature hepatocytes, exhibiting progressive functional changes up until several weeks after birth. One major functional transition that takes place is in the production of hepatic plasma proteins. Albumin is the major plasma protein produced by mature hepatocytes, constituting more than half of total plasma protein concentration in the adult [81]. Albumin synthesis takes place exclusively in the liver, and is secreted into circulation as soon as it is manufactured [81] where it becomes involved in the binding and transport of various drugs, hormones, lipids, and anions, and the maintenance of oncotic pressure [82]. Albumin mRNA is first detected in fetal hepatocytes at E10.5 (gestational week 16 in humans), and its expression increases progressively thereafter until it reaches maximal levels in the adult (**Figure 1-3**) [71,83,84].

On the contrary, AFP is the predominant plasma protein produced by the fetal liver, and is largely considered the fetal equivalent of the adult serum albumin [85]. During prenatal development, AFP expression increases steadily from E9 up to E15.5 (~1000-fold), at which time it begins to decline as the liver matures, ultimately becoming undetectable in the adult (**Figure 1-3**) [71,85,86]. This pattern also corresponds to that observed in humans, where AFP production reaches a peak at the end of the first trimester and declines thereafter [66]. Because of the respective temporal expression profiles of albumin and AFP, these two proteins can be effectively used as markers to determine the status of hepatocyte differentiation if delayed or disrupted maturation is

suspected [71]. In particular, albumin is considered a hallmark of mature hepatocytes [60,87,88], while AFP is commonly used as a marker of immature, fetal hepatocytes [89,90].

Another important functional transition is in glycogen storage capability. During most of gestation, hepatic glycogen stores remains low as the fetus obtains an adequate supply of glucose from the mother via the placenta [66,91]. During late gestation (E17.5), hepatocytes start to accumulate significant amounts of glycogen in order to prepare for the extrauterine survival at birth, before the onset of hepatic gluconeogenesis (**Figure 1-3**) [92]. In humans, fetal hepatic glycogen stores measure to 3.4 mg/g of liver tissue at 8 to 9 weeks of gestation, and increase to an average of 50 mg/g immediately prior to term [66,79], amounting to 2-3 times those of adults [79]. This surge in glycogen synthase [93], the rate-limiting enzyme of glycogen synthesis [94,95]. Thus, glycogen storage is also used as a marker of mature hepatocytes [88,96,97].



**Figure 1-3. Expression Profiles of Hepatocyte Maturation Markers.** Albumin expression begins in the fetal liver at E10.5, and steadily increases until reaching maximal levels in the adult. Hepatic glycogen stores remain low until late gestation, at which point hepatocytes accumulate significant amounts of glycogen such that by term, glycogen storage amounts to 2-3 times that observed in the adult. Albumin and glycogen are thus considered hepatocyte maturation markers. In contrast, AFP expression increases steadily from E9 up until E15.5, at which time it begins to progressively decline as the liver undergoes continued maturation. AFP is thus considered a marker of immature, fetal hepatocytes.
#### 1.4.4 Transcriptional Regulation

Hepatocyte differentiation is associated with alterations in the coordinated expression of a number of hepatic genes. These genes are primarily controlled through interactions between several "liver-enriched" transcription factors [98] that are indispensible for the induction and progression of liver development. These include hepatocyte nuclear factors (HNFs) HNF-1, HNF-3, HNF-4, HNF-6, and CCAAT/enhance binding proteins (C/EBPs) [86,98], each of which exhibit their own temporal expression profiles that coincide with distinct stages of hepatic maturation. Quantitative gene expression profiling has revealed that HNF-1, HNF-3, HNF-4, and HNF-6 exhibit particularly similar timelines of expression, with a peak in gene expression apparent at E9.5 and E11.5 [86]. Based on their expression patterns, these transcription factors have been suggested to exert primary roles during the earlier phases of liver development [86]. By contrast, C/EBPs have been implicated during later stages of development, at which time hepatocytes are undergoing functional maturation. Correspondingly, expression levels of C/EBP- $\alpha$  and C/EBP- $\beta$  are most marked in adult liver tissue [86].

#### 1.4.5 C/EBP-α

As a member of the bZIP class of leucine zipper transcription factors, C/EBP- $\alpha$  comprises a C-terminal leucine zipper, a basic DNA binding region, and an N-terminal transactivating region [99], and binds DNA in a sequence-specific manner [100]. Expression of C/EBP- $\alpha$  is tissue-specific, with most abundant levels apparent in liver, lung, and fat tissue [101]. While targeted disruption of the C/EBP- $\beta$  gene fails to produce substantial consequences on normal liver development [102], a strong mount of evidence supports a critical role for C/EBP- $\alpha$  in hepatocyte maturation, and its involvement in regulating the balance between hepatocyte growth and differentiation. In fact, inadequate maturation of hepatocytes has been attributed specifically to the loss of C/EBP- $\alpha$  [103].

C/EBP- $\alpha$  has been shown to govern the transcription of several hepatocytespecific genes including albumin, AFP, and glycogen synthase [104,105]. Additionally, C/EBP- $\alpha$  possesses a dominant anti-proliferative effect, and accordingly, its expression is generally restricted to growth-arrested cells [100]. In fetal hepatocytes, C/EBP- $\alpha$  is expressed at around E14.5, which corresponds to the time hepatocytes begin to undergo maturation. Expression of C/EBP- $\alpha$  gradually increases as development proceeds, reaching a maximum in the adult [102]. The developmental increase in C/EBP- $\alpha$ expression corresponds to the expression profile of genes associated with mature hepatocytes, including albumin and glycogen synthase, and is inversely associated with the expression of the immature hepatocyte marker, AFP. Moreover, neonatal livers of C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice exhibit properties characteristic of a dedifferentiated state, including decreased albumin expression, diminished glycogen stores and glycogen synthase expression, significantly elevated AFP levels, as well as increased cell proliferation [106,107].

#### 1.5 Rationale, Objectives, and Hypothesis

#### 1.5.1 Rationale

BPA is one of the most prevalent EDCs in the environment. Of particular concern is exposure to BPA during pregnancy, a critical time during which key organs are undergoing growth and differentiation. Previously, exposure to BPA *in utero* has been shown to alter the development of several fetal organs, including the brain [37,38], heart [39], mammary glands [40–42], ovaries [43,44], uterus [45], testes [46], and lungs [47]. The altered fetal organ development following BPA exposure may provide a fetal origin for various BPA-induced diseases in adult life.

The liver is a key metabolic organ and is essential for the maintenance of overall homeostasis. Proper liver maturation is critical not only for neonatal survival by supplying adequate glucose from hepatic glycogen storage, but also for proper hepatic function later in life [89]. Developmental exposure to BPA is known to be associated with liver dysfunction and diseases, such as hepatic steatosis [108,109], liver tumors [110], metabolic syndrome [111,112], and altered hepatic gene expression [113,114] and DNA methylation profiles [115,116]. However, it is unknown whether these BPA-induced hepatic dysfunctions and diseases have a fetal origin. Therefore, the present study was designed to address this important question by examining the effects of prenatal exposure to BPA on fetal liver maturation using the mouse as an experimental model.

#### 1.5.2 Objectives

- To determine the effects of BPA on overall fetal growth morphology (i.e., fetal body weight, litter size and sex ratios)
- (2) To examine the effects of BPA on fetal liver structural maturation.
- (3) To determine the effects of BPA on fetal liver biochemical maturation.
- (4) To determine the effects of BPA on the balance between cell proliferation and apoptosis in the fetal liver.
- (5) To ascertain if the effects of BPA on fetal liver maturation are sex-specific.

### 1.5.3 Hypothesis

We hypothesize that prenatal exposure to BPA disrupts fetal liver maturation in the mouse.

#### Chapter 2 – Methodology

#### 2.1 Animal Experiments

Breeding pairs of adult C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). Mice were housed under standard conditions and provided with food and water *ad libitum*. Polystyrene cages were utilized in order to minimize background exposure to BPA beyond treatment regimen. Mice were maintained at humidity- and temperature-controlled rooms under a normal 12h/12h lightdark cycle. For experiments, 6-8 week old female mice were placed overnight with males, and pregnancy was determined the next morning by the observation of a vaginal plug. Plugged females were separated from males, and gestational days were counted, with presence of a vaginal plug indicating embryonic day 0.5 (E0.5). Pregnant mice were randomly assigned to receive one of the following two diets: (1) control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets supplemented with 7% corn oil; TD.120176, Harlan Teklad, Madison, WI), or (2) control diet supplemented with 25 mg BPA/kg diet (TD.120466, Harlan Teklad) (Figure 2-1). Oral administration was chosen to mimic the most common route of exposure in humans. Feeding was initiated at E7.5, subsequent to successful implantation and just prior to the onset of liver development, and resumed up until E18.5 (Figure 2-1). At E18.5, animals were euthanized by  $CO_2$  euthanasia (Figure 2-1). Fetuses were recovered by caesarean section, and their weights recorded. In addition, maternal weight, pup number, and the number of reabsorption sites per uterine horn were noted. Fetal livers were collected and either snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C, or fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer. Fetal

limbs were also collected, snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C.

#### 2.2 Genotyping PCR

Fetal sex was determined by standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the presence of the male-specific SRY gene. Briefly, DNA was isolated from fetal limb samples. The PCR reactions were carried out using the Platinum Taq DNA Polymerase Kit (cat. no. 10966-026, Invitrogen), with the primers SRY-F (5'-GCA GGT GGA AAA GCC TTA CA-3') and SRY-R (5'-AAG CTT TGC TGG TTT TTG G-3'). PCR amplifications were carried out for 30 cycles (20 seconds at 95°C, 20 seconds at 55°C, and 35 seconds at 72°C) on the Eppendorf Mastercycler® Gradient PCR System (Eppendorf). PCR products were run on a 1% agarose gel, and fetal sex was determined to be male if a DNA product at 271-bp (indicative of the presence of the SRY gene) was observed.

#### 2.3 Histology

Fetal livers were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution (PBS) buffer, dehydrated, and embedded in paraffin wax. Using a rocking microtome, the lungs were sectioned; 5-µm sections were transferred to Superfrost Plus microscope slides (Fisher Scientific, Whitby, ON). Sections were stained using a standard hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) protocol [117].

#### 2.4 Protein Extraction and Western Blot Analysis

Western blot analysis was conducted in order to assess protein expression levels, as

described previously [117]. Since limited tissue was available to us, we made the decision to detect protein levels instead of mRNA. Proteins dictate cellular function [118], and a change in mRNA does not necessarily indicate an alteration in protein expression levels [119]. Given that the purpose of this study was not mechanistic, but rather to examine the biochemical maturation of BPA-exposed fetal livers, protein levels were more meaningful and physiologically-relevant to the present study.

First, liver tissues were homogenized in 10 volumes of ice-cold 10 mM sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0, containing 0.25 M sucrose. Equal volumes of the homogenates were mixed with SDS gel loading buffer (50 mM Tris·HCl, pH 6.8, 2% wt/vol SDS, 10% vol/vol glycerol, 100 mM DTT, and 0.1% wt/vol bromophenol blue). Equal concentrations of this mixture were then subjected to a 10% SDS-PAGE. After electrophoresis, proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes (Amersham Hybond-P, cat. no. RPN303F, GE Healthcare Lifesciences, Baie D'Urfe, QC) using a Bio-Rad Mini Transfer Apparatus. Nonspecific antibody binding was blocked with 5% wt/vol milk in TBST (0.1% vol/vol Tween-20 in TBS) for 1 hour at room temperature. Membranes were then hybridized with primary antibody (albumin: cat. no. SAB2100098, 1:5,000 dilution, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO; glycogen synthase: cat. no. 3886, 1:1,000 dilution, Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA; AFP: cat. no. sc-8108, 1:1000 dilution, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX; C/EBP-a: cat no. sc-61, 1:500 dilution, Santa Cruz Biotechnology; PCNA: cat. no. 2586, 1:1,000 dilution, Cell Signaling Technology; caspase-3: cat. no. 9662, 1:1,000 dilution, Cell Signaling Technology; GAPDH: cat. no. IMG-3073, 1:5,000, Imgenex) overnight at 4°C. The membrane underwent  $3 \times 10$  min washes with TBST, and was then incubated with an anti-rabbit secondary antibody (cat.

no. HAF008, 1:500 dilution, R & D Systems) or anti-mouse secondary antibody (cat. no. G-202-C, 1:10,000 dilution, Fisher Scientific) for 1 hour at room temperature. Following another 3 x 10 min washes in TBST, proteins were detected using chemiluminescence (cat. no. WBLUR0500, Luminata Crescendo, Western HRP Substrate; Millipore, Etobicoke, ON). The membrane was viewed using the VersaDoc Imaging System (BioRad, UK). Densitometry was performed on the images and the level of various proteins expressed as percent of controls.

#### 2.5 Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of four different litters. Livers from three pups were pooled per litter. Data were analyzed using Student's t-test. Significance was set at *P* < 0.05.



**Figure 2-1. Experimental Design.** Pregnant mice were randomly assigned to receive one of the following two diets: (1) control diet (phytoestrogen-free food pellets supplemented with 7% corn oil); or (2) treatment diet (control diet supplemented with 25 mg BPA/kg diet). Feeding was initiated at E7.5, subsequent to successful implantation and just prior to the onset of liver development, and resumed up until E18.5. At E18.5, animals were euthanized by  $CO_2$  euthanasia. Fetal livers were collected and either snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C, or fixed in 4% PFA in 0.1 M PBS.

#### Chapter 3 – Results

# 3.1 Effects of BPA on Fetal Body Weight, Litter Size, and Sex Ratio

As a first step in determining the effect of prenatal exposure on fetal organ maturation, we examined fetal body weight, litter size, and litter sex ratio at E18.5. We found that there was no difference in fetal body weight, litter size, or sex ratio (expressed as percentage of females per litter) between control and BPA-exposed fetuses (**Figure 3-1 A-C**).



Figure 3-1. Effects of BPA on Fetal Body Weight, Litter Size, and Litter Sex Ratio. Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal body weight (*A*) and litter size (*B*) were recorded. Sex ratio of litters were expressed as the percentage of females per total number of pups in the litter (*C*). Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 20).

#### 3.2 Effects of BPA on Fetal Liver Histology

Standard histological analysis was performed in order to determine whether prenatal exposure to BPA affects structural maturation of fetal livers at E18.5. Upon analysis, we found that there were no observable structural differences in BPA exposed fetal livers (**Figure 3-2 B and D**) compared to controls (**Figure 3-2 A and C**).



**Figure 3-2. Effects of BPA on Fetal Liver Histology.** Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal livers were collected, fixed and subjected to histological analysis. Representative fetal liver sections from mice fed the control diet (*A* and *C*) and the control diet supplemented with 25 mg BPA/kg diet (*B* and *D*) are shown (n = 3).

#### 3.3 Effects of BPA on Albumin Protein Expression

To determine whether prenatal exposure to BPA affected fetal liver maturation, we first examined albumin expression, a well-known marker of, and the most abundant protein synthesized by, mature hepatocytes [60,87,88]. We found that levels of albumin protein were significantly decreased in BPA-exposed female fetal livers when compared to controls (35% of control; **Figure 3-3 A and C**). In marked contrast, the abundance of albumin protein was not altered in the fetal livers of BPA-exposed males (**Figure 3-3 B and D**).



Figure 3-3. Effects of BPA on albumin protein expression. Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal livers were collected, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at - 80°C. Levels of albumin protein in female (*A* and *C*) and male (*B* and *D*) fetal livers were determined by western blot analysis. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM (\*\*\**P* < 0.001; n = 4 litters, livers from three pups were pooled per litter).

#### 3.4 Effects of BPA on Glycogen Synthase Protein Expression

Glycogen storage is an important marker of mature hepatocytes [88,96,97]. Prior to birth, a rapid accumulation of glycogen in the fetal liver is accompanied by a corresponding increase in glycogen synthase [93,120]. We next determined changes in the expression of glycogen synthase. We found that the level of glycogen synthase protein was significantly decreased in the fetal livers of female BPA-exposed mice when compared to controls (60% of control; **Figure 3-4 A and C**). However, there was no change in the level of glycogen synthase protein in BPA-exposed male fetal livers (**Figure 3-4 B and D**).



Figure 3-4. Effects of BPA on glycogen synthase protein expression. Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal livers were collected, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C. Levels of glycogen synthase (GS) protein in female (*A* and *C*) and male (*B* and *D*) fetal livers were determined by western blot analysis. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM (\*\**P* < 0.01; n = 4 litters, livers from three pups were pooled per litter).

#### 3.5 Effects of BPA on AFP Protein Expression

To gain further insight into the effects of BPA on fetal liver maturation, we examined changes in the expression of AFP, a well-known marker of immature hepatocytes [89,90]. We found that levels of AFP protein were significantly increased in BPA-exposed female fetal livers when compared to controls (143% of control; **Figure 3-5 A and C**). In contrast, AFP protein abundance was not changed in BPA-exposed male fetal livers (**Figure 3-5 B and D**).



**Figure 3-5. Effects of BPA on AFP protein expression.** Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal livers were collected, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at - 80°C. Levels of AFP protein in female (*A* and *C*) and male (*B* and *D*) fetal livers were determined by western blot analysis. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM (\**P* < 0.05; n = 4 litters, livers from three pups were pooled per litter).

#### 3.6 Effects of BPA on C/EBP- $\alpha$ Protein Expression

Given that C/EBP- $\alpha$  is a master transcription factor essential for hepatocyte differentiation [86,121], we sought changes in the expression of this transcription factor following exposure to BPA. We showed that levels of C/EBP- $\alpha$  protein were decreased by 50% in BPA-exposed female fetal livers when compared to controls (**Figure 3-6 A and C**). By contrast, the level of C/EBP- $\alpha$  protein in BPA-exposed male fetal livers was not changed (**Figure 3-6 B and D**).



**Figure 3-6. Effects of BPA on C/EBP-***a* **protein expression.** Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal livers were collected, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at - 80°C. Levels of C/EBP- $\alpha$  protein in female (*A* and *C*) and male (*B* and *D*) fetal livers were determined by western blot analysis. Data are presented as the mean ± SEM (\**P* < 0.05; n = 4 litters, livers from three pups were pooled per litter).

#### 3.7 Effects of BPA on PCNA Protein Expression

Normal organ growth and maturation depends critically on the right balance between cell proliferation and apoptosis [80]. Thus, we sought to determine if this balance might be perturbed in BPA-exposed fetal livers. To do so, we first examined the proliferative status of the BPA-exposed fetal liver by analyzing the expression of PCNA, a universal marker of cell proliferation. We showed that levels of PCNA protein were upregulated significantly in BPA-exposed female fetal livers when compared to controls (160% of control; **Figure 3-7 A and C**). In contrast, the level of PCNA protein was unchanged in BPA-exposed male fetal livers (**Figure 3-7 B and D**).



**Figure 3-7. Effects of BPA on PCNA protein expression.** Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal livers were collected, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at - 80°C. Levels of PCNA protein in female (*A* and *C*) and male (*B* and *D*) fetal livers were determined by western blot analysis. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM (\**P* < 0.05; n = 4 litters, livers from three pups were pooled per litter).

#### 3.8 Effects of BPA on Caspase-3 Protein Expression

We then examined the effect of BPA on the expression of caspase-3, a universal marker of apoptosis. We found that protein levels of both procaspase-3 (60% of control; **Figure 3-8 A and C**) and cleaved caspase-3 (45% of control; **Figure 3-8 A and 6E**) were significantly down-regulated in BPA-exposed female fetal livers when compared to controls. By contrast, no changes in the protein level of either procaspase-3 (**Figure 3-8 B and D**) or cleaved caspase-3 (**Figure 3-8 B and F**) were observed in livers of BPA-exposed male fetuses.



**Figure 3-8. Effects of BPA on caspase-3 protein expression.** Pregnant mice were fed a control diet (phytoestrogen free food pellets) or the control diet supplemented with 25 mg of BPA/kg food pellets from embryonic day (E) 7.5 to 18.5. On E18.5, mice were sacrificed and fetal livers were collected, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at - 80°C. Levels of procaspase-3 protein and cleaved caspase-3 protein in female (*A* and *C*) and male (*B* and *D*) fetal livers were determined by western blot analysis. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM (\**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01; n = 4 litters, livers from three pups were pooled per litter).

#### Chapter 4 – Discussion

There is robust evidence that adverse events in early life can permanently alter organ growth and function, leading to a wide range of diseases later in life, including cardiovascular, metabolic, neurological, reproductive, and behavioral disorders as well as cancers [49,51]. Although developmental exposure to BPA has been shown to cause liver dysfunction and diseases, the effects of BPA on liver development had never been explored. In the present study, we addressed this important question, and demonstrate that *in utero* exposure to environmentally relevant doses of BPA via maternal diet disrupts female, but not male, fetal liver maturation in the mouse. Thus, our findings suggest a fetal origin for BPA-induced liver dysfunction and metabolic diseases.

#### 4.1 Dosage

The dosage of BPA used, 25 mg BPA/kg diet (equivalent to 5 mg/kg/day), in the present study was chosen to mimic BPA exposure at environmentally relevant levels, and had been shown by us previously not to alter fetal body weight when examined at E18.5 [47]. Further, no changes were apparent in litter size or litter sex ratio. This dosage is one tenth of the NOAEL of 50 mg/kg/day for rodents, as defined by the US EPA [122]. BPA exposure was initiated at E7.5, subsequent to successful implantation and just prior to the onset of liver development, and continued until E18.5, one day before term. Although maternal blood BPA levels were not measured in the present study, they were estimated to be 20 ng/ml at the maximum. This estimation was based on a previous study, in which pregnant mice were fed 5 mg BPA/kg diet for a total of 28.5 days (prior to mating and throughout pregnancy), and maternal plasma levels of BPA were found to be 4 ng/ml

[38]. Thus, the estimated maternal circulating levels of BPA in our study are within the range of 0.5–22.3 ng/ml, which has been reported in pregnant women of the US [56].

## 4.2 BPA Decreases Albumin Protein Expression in Fetal Female Livers

In the mouse, liver development begins at E9. At approximately E14, bipotential hepatoblasts begin to differentiate into either hepatocytes or bile duct epithelial cells [71]. By E16, these two distinct cell types become irreversibly differentiated but continue to undergo maturation for several weeks after birth [75], at which time they are considered mature hepatocytes and cholangiocytes, respectively. In adults, hepatocytes are the main functional units of the liver accounting for nearly 80% of the total liver volume [59,60]. The adult liver in mammals produces a myriad of proteins and enzymes that are crucial for maintaining homeostasis, the most abundant of which is albumin, constituting more than half of total plasma proteins [81]. Albumin is first expressed in fetal hepatocytes at E12, and its expression increases progressively thereafter until it reaches maximal levels in the adult [71]. Consequently, albumin is considered a hallmark of hepatocyte maturation [60,87,88]. As a first step in examining the effects of BPA on fetal liver maturation, we analyzed albumin protein expression. We found that levels of albumin protein were significantly reduced in BPA-exposed female fetal livers when compared to controls. In marked contrast, BPA had no effect on albumin protein expression in male fetal livers, demonstrating that BPA disrupts fetal liver maturation in a sex-specific manner.

## 4.3 BPA Decreases Glycogen Synthase Protein Expression in Fetal Female Livers

Glycogen accumulation is another key feature of mature hepatocytes, and an important marker of hepatic maturation [88,96]. During most of gestation, hepatic glycogen store remains low as the fetus obtains an adequate supply of glucose from the mother via the placenta [91]. During late gestation, hepatocytes start to accumulate significant amounts of glycogen in order to prepare for the extrauterine survival at birth [92]. This surge in glycogen accumulation is accompanied by a corresponding increase in glycogen synthase [93,120], the rate-limiting enzyme of glycogen synthesis [94,95]. In the present study, therefore, we examined glycogen synthase protein expression and used it as a surrogate of glycogen accumulation. We showed that similar to its effects on albumin, prenatal BPA exposure significantly downregulated fetal liver glycogen synthase expression in females but not males. This finding further supports our conclusion that BPA disrupts fetal liver maturation in a sex-specific manner. Although glycogen content was not measured in the present study, previous studies have found that changes in fetal glycogen accumulation are directly correlated with alterations in glycogen synthase expression [96,123]. In addition, one previous study has shown that the developmental increase in fetal liver glycogen synthase expression is critically determined by the status of hepatocyte differentiation rather than substrate availability [120].

## 4.4 BPA Increases AFP Protein Expression in Fetal Female Livers

To provide further insight into the effects of BPA on fetal liver maturation, we then examined the expression of AFP, a marker of immature fetal hepatocytes [89,90]. AFP is the predominant fetal plasma protein produced by the fetal liver [85], and is considered the fetal equivalent of the adult serum albumin. During fetal development, the liver produces increasing amounts of AFP from E9 up to E15.5, at which time, AFP production begins to decline as the liver matures, ultimately becoming undetectable in the adult [86]. Here, we showed that in female livers, prenatal BPA exposure resulted in a significant increase in AFP protein expression at E18.5. In contrast, AFP protein levels in BPA-exposed male fetal livers were comparable to those of non-exposed controls. Taken together, the distinct changes in the expression of all three markers corroborate each other, and provide powerful evidence that prenatal exposure to BPA severely impairs fetal hepatic maturation only in females and not males.

## 4.5 BPA Decreases C/EBP- $\alpha$ Protein Expression in Fetal

#### Female Livers

C/EBP- $\alpha$  is a master transcription factor essential for hepatocyte maturation, and is necessary for the activation of several genes associated with differentiated hepatocytes [121]. As the liver undergoes maturation, C/EBP- $\alpha$  expression increases progressively until reaching a maximum in the adult [86]. Because of its temporal expression profile during liver development, C/EBP- $\alpha$  is also considered a marker of mature hepatocytes. Consequently, we determined whether prenatal BPA exposure affected the expression of this key transcription factor in fetal livers. We found that C/EBP- $\alpha$  protein levels were significantly decreased in BPA-exposed female fetal livers. Similar to the other markers of hepatic maturation, the level of C/EBP- $\alpha$  protein remained unaltered in BPA-exposed male fetal livers. The reduced hepatic C/EBP- $\alpha$  expression in BPA-exposed female fetal livers not only supports our conclusion that BPA disrupts fetal hepatic maturation in a sex-specific manner, but also suggests that the altered expression of albumin, glycogen synthase and AFP is likely a result of the decreased C/EBP- $\alpha$  expression.

Indeed, neonatal livers of C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice exhibit properties characteristic of a dedifferentiated state. In an *in vivo* study by Wang et al., C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice displayed normal body weight and gross organ morphology, however they failed to survive more than one day after birth due to impaired energy homeostasis [107]. In particular, C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice displayed significantly decreased glycogen stores at both E18 and 1 hour postpartum. In fact, while control mice produced abundant levels of hepatic glycogen stores, those void of C/EBP- $\alpha$  exhibited virtually none [107]. These diminished glycogen stores were accompanied by a 50-70% decrease in glycogen synthase mRNA levels, which suggests that the lack of hepatic glycogen was a direct consequence of insufficient glycogen synthase [107]. Thus, although glycogen was not directly measured in the present study, it is highly likely that hepatic glycogen stores are reduced as a consequence of significantly decreased glycogen synthase. Conversely, C/EBP- $\alpha$  knock-in mice demonstrate earlier fetal hepatic glycogen deposition (E15.5) in comparison to their wild type littermates, with a corresponding increase in glycogen synthase expression [123].

Wang et al. also demonstrated C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice display significantly reduced albumin mRNA at 2 hours after birth, which remained low at both 7 and 32 hours postpartum, suggesting that C/EBP- $\alpha$  regulation is required for the transcriptional induction of the albumin gene [107]. Because albumin expression was not completely absent, it is likely that the albumin gene might be fully transactivated by the activity of C/EBP- $\alpha$  together with some other liver-enriched transcription factor(s) known to bind to the albumin promoter [107]. This reduced albumin was also recapitulated in another *in vivo* C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout model by Flodby et al. [106], and consistent with results from an *in vitro* model of C/EBP- $\alpha$  knock-in hepatocytes where albumin mRNA and protein levels were increased [104]. In addition, neonatal C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice exhibit significantly elevated levels of AFP, indicative of a less differentiated state [106].

# 4.6 BPA Increases Cell Proliferation Marker PCNA in Fetal Female Livers

A proper balance between cell proliferation and apoptosis is essential for organ development, including that of the liver [80]. Thus, we also determined whether prenatal BPA exposure disrupted this balance in the fetal liver. First, we examined the proliferative status of the fetal liver by analyzing the expression of PCNA, a universal marker of cell proliferation. One of the main characteristics of a differentiated cell is a marked decrease in proliferation. As hepatocytes mature during fetal development, their proliferative activity progressively decreases as they approach term [124]. Hence, increased expression of proliferative markers is likely indicative of impaired hepatic differentiation and maturation [96]. In the present study, we found that levels of PCNA

protein were significantly elevated in BPA-exposed female but not male fetal livers. It is interesting to note that prenatal BPA exposure has been shown to increase proliferation in the pituitary gland of female but not male mice at birth [125].

Given that we revealed a significant decrease in C/EBP- $\alpha$  expression in female fetal livers, it is especially noteworthy that this transcription factor is known to exert powerful inhibitory effects on cell proliferation. For instance, hepatocyte proliferation is induced in C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice [106,126], whereas C/EBP- $\alpha$  overexpression results in significantly reduced proliferative activity [127]. C/EBP- $\alpha$  is also highly expressed in terminally differentiated tissues and in non-dividing hepatocytes [128]. Furthermore, during liver regeneration [128–130] and tumorigenesis [104], instances during which proliferative activity is positively driven, C/EBP- $\alpha$  is significantly downregulated, which is accompanied by a corresponding re-activation of AFP [123]. Thus, it is tempting to speculate that the increased PCNA expression, and by inference hepatic proliferation, as observed in the present study may be a consequence of decreased C/EBP- $\alpha$ .

## 4.7 BPA Decreases Apoptotic Marker Caspase-3 in Fetal Female Livers

During normal fetal development, an appropriate level of apoptosis is necessary for controlling cell population and deleting abnormal or genetically damaged cells [80,131]. Moreover, organ homeostasis is critically regulated by the balance between cell gain and cell loss [132]. Given that female fetal livers exhibited aberrant cell proliferation in response to BPA exposure, we then sought to examine if BPA exerted an effect on apoptosis. Previous studies have shown that prenatal exposure to BPA decreases apoptosis in the fetal mammary gland, leading to delayed lumen formation at E18 in the mouse [41,42]. With regards to the liver, Xia et al. found that BPA exposure during pregnancy and lactation resulted in enhanced apoptosis in male offspring at 15 and 21 weeks of age [109], but females were not examined.

Apoptotic cell death is carried out via two major pathways: the extrinsic (death receptor) pathway, and the intrinsic (mitochondrial) pathway. The two main initiator caspases associated with each of those pathways are caspase-8 and caspase-9, respectively [133]. These two pathways converge, and apoptosis is carried out by the cleavage of the executioner protein caspase-3 [134]. Thus, in the present study, we analyzed the expression of caspase-3 (a universal apoptotic marker) to determine the effect of prenatal BPA exposure on apoptosis in fetal livers. Our results showed a significant decrease in levels of both pro- and cleaved (active) caspase-3 in BPA-exposed female fetal livers, suggesting that BPA reduced both the expression and activity of caspase-3. By contrast, neither pro- nor cleaved caspase-3 protein levels were altered in BPA-exposed male fetal livers.

While decreased albumin, decreased glycogen synthase, increased AFP, and increased proliferation in BPA-exposed females can be largely attributed to the lack of C/EBP- $\alpha$ , there is no evidence that this transcription factor directly affects apoptosis in hepatocytes. In one study, C/EBP- $\alpha$  was found to ameliorate liver fibrosis in mice through the induction of apoptosis in hepatic stellate cells [134]. However, apoptosis of hepatocytes generally remained unaltered [134]. In the present study, suppressed apoptosis in BPA-exposed females could potentially be a direct consequence of the upregulated cell replication [132], especially given that both of these processes were altered strictly in females, and not males. Indeed, results from previous studies have indicated that cell proliferation and apoptosis are coupled processes, and hence, suppression of apoptosis may occur as part of a proliferative response [135]. In any case, decreased apoptotic activity is particularly unfavourable during organogenesis. Especially in combination with the observed increase in cell proliferation, suppression of apoptosis could cause hyperplasia, which creates an expanded population of cells from which those with oncogenic mutations could arise.

#### 4.8 Sex-Specific Effects

The most striking findings of the present study are the sex-specific effects of BPA on fetal liver maturation. We are not the first to demonstrate that male and female fetal livers display differential vulnerability in response to an adverse *in utero* environment. For example, maternal protein and nutrient restriction [136,137], maternal smoking [138,139], prenatal caffeine exposure [140], and prenatal cadmium exposure [141] have been shown to alter fetal hepatic gene expression and DNA methylation in a sex-dependent manner. Although the precise molecular mechanisms underlying the sex-specific effects in the present study and those reported previously remain largely unknown, it is possible that fetal sex steroid hormones may play a role [142]. A likely contributing factor may also be sex chromosome complement, because chromosomal differences have been shown to dictate the responses of male and female cells to environmental stressors even before the production of fetal sex hormones [143,144]. It is also possible that these sex-specific effects could be mediated indirectly via differential

effects of BPA on male and female placentas [145]. Obviously, future studies will be required to determine the precise mechanisms underlying this phenomenon.

Our present findings also suggest females are more vulnerable to BPA-induced hepatic damage. This contention is consistent with some but not all of the previously reported sexual dimorphism associated with the BPA-induced adult liver phenotypes, which appear to be largely dependent on the dose as well as the exposure time and duration. For instance, although maternal exposure to BPA throughout pregnancy and lactation has been shown to induce metabolic disorders in both male and female adult offspring, the effects on females were more profound [112]. In contrast, Alonso-Magdalena et al. found that prenatal exposure to BPA (E9 to E16) disrupted glucose homeostasis in adult male but not female offspring [111]. In another study, Weinhouse et al. found that exposure to BPA throughout gestation and lactation led to a dose-dependent incidence of liver tumors in both male and female adult offspring [110]. Although these effects were not different between sexes, it is interesting to note that while males are normally two to four times more likely to develop hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), this sexual dimorphism disappeared as a result of perinatal BPA exposure [110]. This BPAinduced increased vulnerability to HCC in adult females is especially interesting in the context of the present study's findings for C/EBP-a, given that C/EBP-a knock-in mice have been shown to exhibit reduced susceptibility to HCC compared to wild-types [123], and also given its suspected role as a tumor suppressor in other tissues [146].

Developmental exposure to BPA has also been shown to promote aberrant DNA methylation profiles [115,116] as well as altered gene expression [113] in adult offspring. However, sex-specific effects are unknown as differences between sexes were never
compared in these studies. For example, Ma et al. revealed glucokinase promoter hypermethylation in adult male offspring as a result of early life BPA exposure, but female offspring were never examined [116]. In another study, Somm et al. showed that perinatal BPA exposure resulted in the overexpression of several hepatic metabolic genes in adult female offspring, but gene expression in male livers was not analyzed [113]. Early life exposure to BPA also contributes to the development of hepatic steatosis in adult male offspring [108,147] but this phenomenon has never been examined in BPA-exposed females.

## 4.9 Conclusions

In the present study, we demonstrate for the first time that prenatal exposure to environmentally relevant doses of BPA via maternal diet impairs female, but not male, fetal liver maturation in the mouse. Although the long-term consequences of the present findings remain to be determined, it is tempting to speculate that the disrupted hepatic maturation observed in the present study may result in permanent alterations in hepatic function, ultimately leading to hepatic dysfunction and diseases later in life. In addition, these findings suggest that females are more vulnerable to BPA-induced hepatic damage.

## 4.10 Limitations & Future Directions

Although we provide strong evidence that BPA impairs the biochemical maturation of female fetal livers, the liver also undergoes structural maturation to acquire a specialized tissue architecture important for supporting its associated functions [148]. In the present study, no definitive conclusion can be made regarding the effects of prenatal

BPA exposure on structural maturation of fetal livers. While there were no observable structural abnormalities in the livers of BPA-exposed fetuses upon standard H&E staining, this histological analysis was carried out on a small sample size with males and females pooled together, prior to the realization of a sex-specific effect. Thus, an impairment in the structural maturation of female fetal livers could potentially be masked by the strong lack of effect of BPA on the livers of male fetuses. Unfortunately, further analysis was not possible in the present study since the limited store of fixed tissues was never genotyped. Future studies should explore this by analyzing structural markers of maturation [96]. Moreover, one of the most utilized indices for assessing effects of xenobiotics is organ weight [149]. In the present study, fetal liver weights failed to be recorded at the time of dissection. However, neonatal livers of C/EBP- $\alpha$  knock-out mice exhibit a normal liver size [106,150], which leads us to believe that liver weights of BPA-exposed fetal females likely remain normal in the present study. Nevertheless, this question should be addressed in future studies.

Our study employed the use of an *in vivo* mouse model to demonstrate the effects of prenatal BPA exposure on fetal liver maturation in the mouse at E18.5, just prior to term (E19). This time point was chosen since our goal was to determine whether a fetal origin might exist for BPA-induced hepatic disease and dysfunction. Nevertheless, hepatocytes continue to undergo functional maturation for several weeks after birth, and C/EBP- $\alpha$  is also essential for continued postnatal differentiation of hepatocytes. For example, the rapid depletion of glycogen stores at birth is paralleled by the immediate onset of hepatic gluconeogenesis [151]. The acquired gluconeogenic capacity of the liver is supported by the onset of gluconeogenic enzymes, including glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) and the rate-limiting enzyme, phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK), at postnatal day (PN) 1 [152–154]. C/EBP- $\alpha$  binds to the promoter regions of these genes and activates their expression [155,156]. In fact, neonatal C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice exhibit delayed and reduced PEPCK and G6Pase expression, which is largely responsible for their severe dysregulation in glucose homeostasis and resultant hypoglycemia [107,155]. In the present study, given that levels of C/EBP- $\alpha$  are significantly decreased in BPA-exposed female livers at E18.5, it is likely that these important gluconeogenic enzymes are also downregulated in the neonatal liver, and that the consequences of prenatal BPA exposure on hepatocyte maturation extend into the postnatal period. Future studies are necessary in order to address these questions.

Furthermore, it is unknown as to whether the effects observed in the present study persist into adulthood. Liver-specific knockout models have revealed that C/EBP- $\alpha$  continues to play an important role in the adult. Specifically, these studies have demonstrated that C/EBP- $\alpha$  is necessary for transcription of critical gluconeogenic genes (glycogen synthase, G6Pase, PEPCK), as well as bilirubin UGT, which is required for the detoxification of serum bilirubin [157,158]. In addition, adult C/EBP- $\alpha$  knockout mice have been shown to exhibit glucose intolerance, increased hepatic steatosis, and increased serum cholesterol levels [158]. Thus, programmed under-expression of hepatic C/EBP- $\alpha$  could have negative consequences in the adult. Interestingly, a subset of these profiles have already been established in adult mice subjected to early life BPA exposure. It would be interesting to understand the extent to which downregulated C/EBP- $\alpha$  in the fetus contributes to these phenotypes, if at all.

Lastly, we have yet to elucidate the molecular mechanism underlying the effect of BPA on female fetal liver maturation. We propose that upon binding to an intracellular receptor, BPA acts to downregulate C/EBP- $\alpha$  protein expression, which leads to a downregulation of albumin and glycogen synthase, an upregulation of AFP, as well as increased PCNA expression (cell proliferation marker) and decreased caspase-3 expression (marker of apoptosis) (**Figure 4-1**). However, the precise mechanism remains unclear, and future studies will be necessary in order to address this question.

It is conceivable that prenatal exposure to BPA impairs female fetal liver maturation through aberrant estrogen signaling. As previously mentioned, BPA acts mainly via interaction with ER. The predominant isoform in hepatocytes is ER $\alpha$ [159,160], and studies have shown that hepatic ER concentrations increase in the fetus during later stages of gestation in parallel with maternal estrogens [161]. In other cell types that coexpress C/EBP- $\alpha$  and ER, estradiol has been shown to induce C/EBP- $\alpha$ activation [162]. Additionally, BPA has been shown to act via an ER-mediated pathway to increase C/EBP- $\alpha$  expression in human adipose stem cells [163].

BPA has also been shown to bind to the GR as both an agonist and an antagonist [30,31]. Glucocorticoids are important for regulating the expression of many hepatic genes. Specifically, the GR regulates transcription via DNA binding, as well as through cross-talk with other transcription factors [164,165]. Studies have shown that during late gestation, glucocorticoids promote hepatic maturation. For example, glucocorticoids accelerate the decline of AFP while enhancing albumin expression [166]. In addition, glucocorticoid have been shown to induce glycogen synthase expression and glycogen

accumulation [167]. Glucocorticoids have also been shown to induce  $G_1$  cell cycle arrest in a rat hepatoma cell line, which required the induction of C/EBP- $\alpha$  as a mediator [165].



Figure 4-1. Proposed Mechanism. Upon binding to an intracellular receptor, BPA acts to downregulate C/EBP- $\alpha$ , which leads to decreased expression of albumin and glycogen synthase, increased expression of AFP, as well as a perturbed balance between cell proliferation and apoptosis.

## References

- Rochester JR. Bisphenol A and human health: A review of the literature. Reprod Toxicol. Elsevier Inc.; 2013;42: 132–155. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.08.008
- Schug TT, Janesick A, Blumberg B, Heindel JJ. Endocrine disrupting chemicals and disease susceptibility. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. Elsevier Ltd; 2011;127: 204–215. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2011.08.007
- De Coster S, Van Larebeke N. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: Associated disorders and mechanisms of action. J Environ Public Health. 2012;2012. doi:10.1155/2012/713696
- Vandenberg LN, Chahoud I, Heindel JJ, Padmanabhan V, Paumgartten FJR, Schoenfelder G. Urinary, circulating, and tissue biomonitoring studies indicate widespread exposure to bisphenol A. Environ Health Perspect. 2010;118: 1055– 1070. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901716
- Mileva G, Baker SL, Konkle ATM, Bielajew C. Bisphenol-A: Epigenetic reprogramming and effects on reproduction and behavior. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2014;11: 7537–7561. doi:10.3390/ijerph110707537
- Rubin BS. Bisphenol A: An endocrine disruptor with widespread exposure and multiple effects. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. Elsevier Ltd; 2011;127: 27–34. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2011.05.002
- Wetherill YB, Akingbemi BT, Kanno J, McLachlan J a., Nadal A, Sonnenschein C, et al. In vitro molecular mechanisms of bisphenol A action. Reprod Toxicol. 2007;24: 178–198. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.05.010
- Vandenberg LN, Maffini M V., Sonnenschein C, Rubin BS, Soto AM. Bisphenol-a and the great divide: A review of controversies in the field of endocrine disruption. Endocr Rev. 2009;30: 75–95. doi:10.1210/er.2008-0021

- Michałowicz J. Bisphenol A Sources, toxicity and biotransformation. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol. 2014;37: 738–758. doi:10.1016/j.etap.2014.02.003
- Angle BM, Phuong R, Ponzi D, Stahlhut RW, Drury BE, Nagel SC, et al. glucose regulation. 2013;
- Pritchett JJ, Kuester RK, Sipes IG. Metabolism of bisphenol a in primary cultured hepatocytes from mice, rats, and humans. Drug Metab Dispos. 2002;30: 1180– 1185.
- Taylor JA, vom Saal FS, Welshons W V., Drury B, Rottinghaus G, Hunt PA, et al. Similarity of bisphenol a pharmacokinetics in rhesus monkeys and Mice: Relevance for human exposure. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2011. pp. 422–430. doi:10.1289/ehp.1002514
- Nahar MS, Liao C, Kannan K, Dolinoy DC. Fetal Liver Bisphenol A Concentrations and Biotransformation Gene Expression Reveal Variable Exposure and Altered Capacity for Metabolism in Humans. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 2013;27: 116–123. doi:10.1002/jbt.21459
- Vandenberg LN, Colborn T, Hayes TB, Heindel JJ, Jacobs DR, Lee DH, et al. Hormones and endocrine-disrupting chemicals: Low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses. Endocr Rev. 2012;33: 378–455. doi:10.1210/er.2011-1050
- Völkel W, Colnot T, Csanády GA, Filser JG, Dekant W. Metabolism and kinetics of bisphenol a in humans at low doses following oral administration. Chem Res Toxicol. 2002;15: 1281–1287. doi:10.1021/tx025548t
- Zalko D, Soto AM, Dolo L, Dorio C, Rathahao E, Debrauwer L, et al. Biotransformations of bisphenol A in a mammalian model: Answers and new questions raised by low-dose metabolic fate studies in pregnant CD1 mice. Environ Health Perspect. 2003;111: 309–319. doi:10.1289/ehp.5603

- Vandenberg LN, Chahoud I, Padmanabhan V, Paumgartten FJR, Schoenfelder G. Biomonitoring studies should be used by regulatory agencies to assess human exposure levels and safety of bisphenol A. Environ Health Perspect. 2010;118: 1051–1054. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901717
- Pottenger LH, Domoradzki JY, Markham D a, Hansen SC, Cagen SZ, Waechter JM. The relative bioavailability and metabolism of bisphenol A in rats is dependent upon the route of administration. Toxicol Sci. 2000;54: 3–18. doi:10.1093/toxsci/54.1.3
- Kuiper GG, Carlsson B, Grandien K, Enmark E, Häggblad J, Nilsson S, et al. Comparison of the ligand binding specificity and transcript tissue distribution of estrogen receptors alpha and beta. Endocrinology. 1997;138: 863–870. doi:10.1210/endo.138.3.4979
- Enmark E, Gustafsson J a. Estrogen receptor beta a novel receptor opens up new possibilities for cancer diagnosis and treatment. Endocr Relat Cancer. 1998;5: 213–222. doi:10.1677/erc.0.0050213
- Deroo BJ, Korach KS. Review series estrogen receptors and human disease. J Clin Invest. 2006;116: 561–570. doi:10.1172/JCI27987.Selective
- Martinkovich S, Shah D, Planey SL, Arnott JA. Selective estrogen receptor modulators □: tissue specificity and clinical utility. Clin Interv Aging. 2014;20: 1437–1452.
- Kurosawa T, Hiroi H, Tsutsumi O, Ishikawa T, Osuga Y, Fujiwara T, et al. The activity of bisphenol A depends on both the estrogen receptor subtype and the cell type. [Internet]. Endocrine journal. 2002. pp. 465–71. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12402979
- Routledge EJ, White R, Parker MG, Sumpter JP. Differential Effects of Xenoestrogens on Coactivator Recruitment by Estrogen Receptor (ER) • and ER
   NL \*. J Biol Chem. 2000;275: 35986–35993. doi:10.1074/jbc.M006777200

- Alonso-magdalena P, Ropero AB, Soriano S, García-arévalo M, Ripoll C, Fuentes E, et al. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology Bisphenol-A acts as a potent estrogen via non-classical estrogen triggered pathways. Mol Cell Endocrinol. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2012;355: 201–207. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2011.12.012
- Rajapakse N, Ong D, Kortenkamp A. Defining the impact of weakly estrogenic chemicals on the action of steroidal estrogens. Toxicol Sci. 2001;60: 296–304. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11248142
- Gould JC, Leonard LS, Maness SC, Wagner BL, Conner K, Zacharewski T, et al. Bisphenol A interacts with the estrogen receptor h in a distinct manner from estradiol. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 1998;142: 203–214.
- Hong E, Park S, Choi K, Leung PCK, Jeung B. Identification of estrogen-regulated genes by microarray analysis of the uterus of immature rats exposed to endocrine disrupting chemicals. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2006;4: 1–12. doi:10.1186/1477-7827-4-49
- Teng C, Goodwin B, Shockley K, Xia M, Huang R, Norris J, et al. Bisphenol A affects androgen receptor function via multiple mechanisms. Chem Biol Interact. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2013;203: 556–564. doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2013.03.013
- Prasanth GK, Divya LM, Sadasivan C. Bisphenol-A can bind to human glucocorticoid receptor as an agonist: an in silico study. J Appl Toxicol. 2010;30: 769–74. doi:10.1002/jat.1570
- Roelofs MJE, Berg M Van Den, Bovee TFH, Piersma AH, Duursen MBM va. Structural bisphenol analogues differentially target steroidogenesis in murine MA-10 Leydig cells as well as the glucocorticoid receptor. Toxicology. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2015;329: 10–20. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2015.01.003
- Takayanagi S, Tokunaga T, Liu X, Okada H, Matsushima A, Shimohigashi Y. Endocrine disruptor bisphenol A strongly binds to human estrogen-related

receptor 2?? (ERR??) with high constitutive activity. Toxicol Lett. 2006;167: 95–105. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2006.08.012

- Ben-Jonathan N, Steinmetz R. Xenoestrogens: The emerging story of bisphenol A. Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism. 1998. pp. 124–128. doi:10.1016/S1043-2760(98)00029-0
- Hugo ER, Brandebourg TD, Woo JG, Loftus J, Alexander JW, Ben-Jonathan N. Bisphenol A at environmentally relevant doses inhibits adiponectin release from human adipose tissue explants and adipocytes. Environ Health Perspect. 2008;116: 1642–1647. doi:10.1289/ehp.11537
- Birnbaum LS. Applying research to public health questions: Timing and the environmentally relevant dose. Environ Health Perspect. 2009;117: 901417. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901417
- Richter CA, Birnbaum LS, Farabollini F, Newbold RR, Rubin BS, Talsness CE, et al. In vivo effects of bisphenol A in laboratory rodent studies. Reproductive Toxicology. 2007. pp. 199–224. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.06.004
- Elsworth JD, Jentsch JD, VandeVoort C a., Roth RH, Eugene Redmond D, Leranth C. Prenatal exposure to bisphenol A impacts midbrain dopamine neurons and hippocampal spine synapses in non-human primates. Neurotoxicology. Elsevier B.V.; 2013;35: 113–120. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2013.01.001
- Wolstenholme JT, Edwards M, Shetty SRJ, Gatewood JD, Taylor J a., Rissman EF, et al. Gestational exposure to bisphenol a produces transgenerational changes in behaviors and gene expression. Endocrinology. 2012;153: 3828–3838. doi:10.1210/en.2012-1195
- Chapalamadugu KC, VandeVoort C a., Settles ML, Robison BD, Murdoch GK. Maternal bisphenol a exposure impacts the fetal heart transcriptome. PLoS One. 2014;9: 1–10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089096

- Tharp a. P, Maffini M V., Hunt P a., VandeVoort C a., Sonnenschein C, Soto a. M. Bisphenol A alters the development of the rhesus monkey mammary gland. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2012;109: 8190–8195. doi:10.1073/pnas.1120488109
- Wadia PR, Cabaton NJ, Borrero MD, Rubin BS, Sonnenschein C, Shioda T, et al. Low-Dose BPA Exposure Alters the Mesenchymal and Epithelial Transcriptomes of the Mouse Fetal Mammary Gland. PLoS One. 2013;8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063902
- Vandenberg LN, Maffini M V., Wadia PR, Sonnenschein C, Rubin BS, Soto AM. Exposure to environmentally relevant doses of the xenoestrogen bisphenol-A alters development of the fetal mouse mammary gland. Endocrinology. 2007;148: 116– 127. doi:10.1210/en.2006-0561
- Susiarjo M, Hassold TJ, Freeman E, Hunt P a. Bisphenol A exposure in utero disrupts early oogenesis in the mouse. PLoS Genet. 2007;3: 0063–0070. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0030005
- Veiga-Lopez A, Luense LJ, Christenson LK, Padmanabhan V. Developmental programming: Gestational bisphenol-A treatment alters trajectory of fetal ovarian gene expression. Endocrinology. 2013;154: 1873–1884. doi:10.1210/en.2012-2129
- Calhoun KC, Padilla-Banks E, Jefferson WN, Liu L, Gerrish KE, Young SL, et al. Bisphenol A exposure alters developmental gene expression in the fetal rhesus macaque uterus. PLoS One. 2014;9: 1–12. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085894
- 46. Horstman K a., Naciff JM, Overmann GJ, Foertsch LM, Richardson BD, Daston GP. Effects of Transplacental 17-α-Ethynyl Estradiol or Bisphenol A on the Developmental Profile of Steroidogenic Acute Regulatory Protein in the Rat Testis. Birth Defects Res Part B Dev Reprod Toxicol. 2012;95: 318–325. doi:10.1002/bdrb.21020
- 47. Hijazi A, Guan H, Yang K. Bisphenol A disrupts fetal lung maturation via the glucocorticoid signaling pathway. FASEB J. 2015;Submitted.

- Wadhwa PD, Buss C, Etringer S, Swanson JM. Developmental Origins of Health and Disease: Brief History of the Approach and Current Focus on Epigenetic Mechanisms. Semin Reprod Med. 2009;27: 358–368. doi:10.1055/s-0029-1237424.Developmental
- Heindel JJ, Vandenberg LN. Developmental origins of health and disease: a paradigm for understanding disease cause and prevention. N Engl J Med. 2015;27. doi:10.1056/NEJMe058187
- 50. Barker DJP. The origins of the developmental origins theory. Journal of Internal Medicine. 2007. pp. 412–417. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2007.01809.x
- Hanson M a, Gluckman PD. Early Developmental Conditioning of Later Health and Disease: Physiology or Pathology? Am Physiol Soc. 2014;94: 1027–1076. doi:10.1152/physrev.00029.2013
- Nishikawa M, Iwano H, Yanagisawa R, Koike N, Inoue H, Yokota H. Placental transfer of conjugated bisphenol A and subsequent reactivation in the rat fetus. Environ Health Perspect. 2010;118: 1196–1203. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901575
- 53. Corbel T, Gayrard V, Puel S, Lacroix MZ, Berrebi a., Gil S, et al. Bidirectional placental transfer of Bisphenol A and its main metabolite, Bisphenol A-Glucuronide, in the isolated perfused human placenta. Reprod Toxicol. Elsevier Inc.; 2014;47: 51–58. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.06.001
- Balakrishnan B, Henare K, Thorstensen EB, Ponnampalam AP, Mitchell MD. Transfer of bisphenol A across the human placenta. Am J Obstet Gynecol. Elsevier Inc.; 2010;202: 393–395. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2010.01.025
- 55. Gerona RR, Woodruff TJ, Dickenson C a, Pan J, Jackie M, Sen S, et al. Bisphenol-A (BPA), BPA glucuronide, and BPA sulfate in mid-gestation umbilical cord serum in a Northern and Central California population. Environ Sci Technol. 2014;47. doi:10.1021/es402764d.Bisphenol-A

- Padmanabhan V, Siefert K, Ransom S, Johnson T, Pinkerton J, Anderson L, et al. Maternal bisphenol-A levels at delivery: a looming problem? J Perinatol. 2008;28: 258–263. doi:10.1038/sj.jp.7211913
- 57. Haschek WM, Rousseaux CG, Wallig MA. Haschek and Rousseaux's Handbook of Toxicologic Pathology. Academic Press; 2013. p. 1131.
- 58. Takahashi O, Oishi S. Disposition of Orally Administered 2, 2-Bis (4hydroxyphenyl) propane (Bisphenol A) in Pregnant Rats and the Placental Transfer to Fetuses. Environ Health Perspect. 2000;108: 931–935. doi:10.1289/ehp.00108931
- Si-Tayeb K, Lemaigre FP, Duncan S a. Organogenesis and Development of the Liver. Dev Cell. 2010;18: 175–189. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2010.01.011
- Zorn AM, Biology D, Children C. Liver Development. StemBook. 2008; 1–26. doi:10.3824/stembook.1.25.1
- Lee JS, Ward WO, Knapp G, Ren H, Vallanat B, Abbott B, et al. Transcriptional ontogeny of the developing liver. BMC Genomics. BioMed Central Ltd; 2012;13: 33. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-13-33
- Lawan A, Zhang L, Gatzke F, Min K, Jurczak MJ, Al-Mutairi M, et al. Hepatic Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Phosphatase 1 Selectively Regulates Glucose Metabolism and Energy Homeostasis. Mol Cell Biol. 2015;35: 26–40. doi:10.1128/MCB.00503-14
- Allen-Jennings AE, Hartman MG, Kociba GJ, Hai T. The roles of ATF3 in liver dysfunction and the regulation of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene expression. J Biol Chem. 2002;277: 20020–20025. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200727200
- 64. Talwar GP, Srivastava LM. Textbook of Biochemistry and Human Biology. PHI Learning Pvt. Ltd.; 2002. p. 1328.

- Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Biochemistry [Internet]. Biochemistry textbook.
   2006. p. 1120. Available: http://books.google.com/books?id=jQKGAAAACAAJ
- Grijalva J, Vakili K. Neonatal liver physiology. Semin Pediatr Surg. Elsevier;
   2013;22: 185–189. doi:10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2013.10.006
- 67. Waxman DJ, Holloway MG. Sex Differences in the Expression of Hepatic Drug Metabolizing Enzymes. Mol Pharmacol. 2009;76: 215–228. doi:10.1124/mol.109.056705.cial
- Rando G, Wahli W. Sex differences in nuclear receptor-regulated liver metabolic pathways. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis. Elsevier B.V.; 2011;1812: 964– 973. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.12.023
- 69. Roy a K, Chatterjee B. Sexual dimorphism in the liver. Annu Rev Physiol. 1983;45: 37–50. doi:10.1146/annurev.ph.45.030183.000345
- Mikkola HK a, Orkin SH. The journey of developing hematopoietic stem cells. Development. 2006;133: 3733–3744. doi:10.1242/dev.02568
- 71. Crawford LW, Foley JF, Elmore S a. Histology atlas of the developing mouse hepatobiliary system with emphasis on embryonic days 9.5-18.5. Toxicol Pathol. 2010;38: 872–906. doi:10.1177/0192623310374329
- 72. Tanaka M, Okabe M, Suzuki K, Kamiya Y, Tsukahara Y, Saito S, et al. Mouse hepatoblasts at distinct developmental stages are characterized by expression of EpCAM and DLK1: Drastic change of EpCAM expression during liver development. Mech Dev. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2009;126: 665–676. doi:10.1016/j.mod.2009.06.939
- 73. Lüdtke THW, Christoffels VM, Petry M, Kispert A. Tbx3 promotes liver bud expansion during mouse development by suppression of cholangiocyte differentiation. Hepatology. 2009;49: 969–978. doi:10.1002/hep.22700

- Zaret KS. Regulatory phases of early liver development: paradigms of organogenesis. Nat Rev Genet. 2002;3: 499–512. doi:10.1038/nrg837
- 75. Kung JWC, Currie IS, Forbes SJ, Ross J a. Liver development, regeneration, and carcinogenesis. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010;2010. doi:10.1155/2010/984248
- 76. Zaret KS. Liver speci 
  <sup>®</sup> cation and early morphogenesis. Mech Dev. 2000;92: 83– 88.
- Xu T, Rodriguez-Devora JI, Reyna-Soriano D, Bhuyan M, Zhu L, Wang K, et al. Regenerative Medicine Applications in Organ Transplantation [Internet].
  Regenerative Medicine Applications in Organ Transplantation. 2014. pp. 67–79. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-398523-1.00006-9
- 78. Germain L, Blouin MJ, Marceau N. Biliary epithelial and hepatocytic cell lineage relationships in embryonic rat liver as determined by the differential expression of cytokeratins,□??-fetoprotein, albumin, and cell surface-exposed components. Cancer Res. 1988;48: 4909–4918.
- Suchy FJ, Sokol RJ, Balistreri WF. Liver Disease in Childrem. Cambridge University Press; 2014. p. p. 752.
- Her GM, Cheng CH, Hong JR, Sundaram GS, Wu JL. Imbalance in liver homeostasis leading to hyperplasia by overexpressing either one of the Bcl-2related genes, zfBLP1 and zfMcl-1a. Dev Dyn. 2006;235: 515–523. doi:10.1002/dvdy.20624
- Nicholson JP, Wolmarans MR, Park GR. The role of albumin in critical illness. Br J Anaesth. 2000;85: 599–610. doi:10.1093/bja/85.4.599
- Lee M. Basic Skills in Interpreting Laboratory Data. Introduction to common Laboratory Assays and Technology. 2009. pp. 17–39.
- Beath S V. Hepatic function and physiology in the newborn. Semin Neonatol.
  2003;8: 337–346. doi:10.1016/S1084-2756(03)00066-6

- Weisend CM, Kundert J a., Suvorova ES, Prigge JR, Schmidt EE. Cre activity in fetal albCre mouse hepatocytes: Utility for developmental studies. Genesis. 2009;47: 789–792. doi:10.1002/dvg.20568
- 85. Gabant P, Forrester L, Nichols J, Van Reeth T, De Mees C, Pajack B, et al. Alphafetoprotein, the major fetal serum protein, is not essential for embryonic development but is required for female fertility. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99: 12865–12870. doi:10.1073/pnas.202215399
- 86. Jochheim A, Hillemann T, Kania G, Scharf J, Attaran M, Manns MP, et al. Quantitative gene expression profiling reveals a fetal hepatic phenotype of murine ES-derived hepatocytes. Int J Dev Biol. 2004;48: 23–29. doi:10.1387/ijdb.15005571
- Kheolamai P, Dickson AJ. Liver-enriched transcription factors are critical for the expression of hepatocyte marker genes in mES-derived hepatocyte-lineage cells. BMC Mol Biol. 2009;10: 35. doi:10.1186/1471-2199-10-35
- Cai J, Zhao Y, Liu Y, Ye F, Song Z, Qin H, et al. Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into functional hepatic cells. Hepatology. 2007;45: 1229–1239. doi:10.1002/hep.21582
- 89. Hyatt M a, Budge H, Symonds ME. Early developmental influences on hepatic organogenesis. Organogenesis. 2008;4: 170–175. doi:10.4161/org.4.3.6849
- Anzai H, Kamiya A, Shirato H, Takeuchi T, Miyajima A. Impaired differentiation of fetal hepatocytes in homozygous jumonji mice. Mech Dev. 2003;120: 791–800. doi:10.1016/S0925-4773(03)00071-6
- Hay WW. Placental-fetal glucose exchange and fetal glucose metabolism. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc. 2006;117: 321–339; discussion 339–340.
- 92. Platt MW, Deshpande S. Metabolic adaptation at birth. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.
  2005;10: 341–350. doi:10.1016/j.siny.2005.04.001

- 93. Parimi PS, Croniger CM, Leahy P, Hanson RW, Kalhan SC. Effect of reduced maternal inspired oxygen on hepatic glucose metabolism in the rat fetus. Pediatr Res. 2003;53: 325–332. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000047643.26484.48
- 94. Irimia JM, Meyer CM, Peper CL, Zhai L, Bock CB, Previs SF, et al. Impaired glucose tolerance and predisposition to the fasted state in liver glycogen synthase knock-out mice. J Biol Chem. 2010;285: 12851–12861. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.106534
- 95. Villarroel-Espíndola F, Maldonado R, Mancilla H, Vander Stelt K, Acuña AI, Covarrubias A, et al. Muscle glycogen synthase isoform is responsible for testicular glycogen synthesis: Glycogen overproduction induces apoptosis in male germ cells. J Cell Biochem. 2013;114: 1653–1664. doi:10.1002/jcb.24507
- 96. Sen S, Jumaa H, Webster NJG. Splicing factor SRSF3 is crucial for hepatocyte differentiation and metabolic function. Nat Commun. Nature Publishing Group; 2013;4: 1336. doi:10.1038/ncomms2342
- Lovgren AK, Kovarova M, Koller BH. cPGES/p23 is required for glucocorticoid receptor function and embryonic growth but not prostaglandin E2 synthesis. Mol Cell Biol. 2007;27: 4416–4430. doi:10.1128/MCB.02314-06
- Nagaki M, Moriwaki H. Transcription factor HNF and hepatocyte differentiation. Hepatol Res. 2008;38: 961–969. doi:10.1111/j.1872-034X.2008.00367.x
- 99. Schrem H, Klempnauer R, Borlak R. Liver-Enriched Transcription Factors in Liver Function and Development. Part II- the C/EBPs and D Site-Binding Protein in Cell Cycle Control, Carcinogenesis, Circadian Gene Regulation, Liver Regeneration, Apoptosis. Cell Cycle. 2004;56: 291–330. doi:10.1124/pr.56.2.5.291
- 100. Umek RM, Friedman AD, McKnight SL. CCAAT-enhancer binding protein: a component of a differentiation switch. Science. 1991;251: 288–292.

- Friedman a. D, Landschulz WH, McKnight SL. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein activates the promoter of the serum albumin gene in cultured hepatoma cells. Genes Dev. 1989;3: 1314–1322. doi:10.1101/gad.3.9.1314
- 102. Shiojiri N, Takeshita K, Yamasaki H, Iwata T. Suppression of C/EBP□?? expression in biliary cell differentiation from hepatoblasts during mouse liver development. J Hepatol. 2004;41: 790–798. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2004.07.011
- 103. Tan X, Yuan Y, Zeng G, Apte U, Thompson MD, Cieply B, et al. ??-Catenin Deletion in Hepatoblasts Disrupts Hepatic Morphogenesis and Survival During Mouse Development. Hepatology. 2008;47: 1667–1679. doi:10.1002/hep.22225
- 104. Tan EH, Ma FJ, Gopinadhan S, Sakban RB, Wang ND. C/EBP?? knock-in hepatocytes exhibit increased albumin secretion and urea production. Cell Tissue Res. 2007;330: 427–435. doi:10.1007/s00441-007-0505-4
- 105. Bois-Joyeux B, Danan JL. Members of the CAAT/enhancer-binding protein, hepatocyte nuclear factor-1 and nuclear factor-1 families can differentially modulate the activities of the rat alpha-fetoprotein promoter and enhancer. Biochem J. 1994;301 (Pt 1: 49–55.
- 106. Flodby P, Barlow C, Kylefjord H, Ahrlund-Richter L, Xanthopoulos KG. Increased hepatic cell proliferation and lung abnormalities in mice deficient in CCAAT/enhancer binding protein α. J Biol Chem. 1996;271: 24753–24760. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.40.24753
- 107. Wang AN, Finegold MJ, Bradley A, Ou CN, Sandy V, Wilde MD, et al. Impaired Energy Homeostasis in C / EBP (x Knockout Mice. Adv Sci. 2009;269: 1108– 1112.
- 108. Jiang Y, Xia W, Zhu Y, Li X, Wang D, Liu J, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction in early life resulted from perinatal bisphenol A exposure contributes to hepatic steatosis in rat offspring. Toxicol Lett. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2014;228: 85–92. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.04.013

- 109. Xia W, Jiang Y, Li Y, Wan Y, Liu J, Ma Y, et al. Early-life exposure to bisphenol a induces liver injury in rats involvement of mitochondria-mediated apoptosis. PLoS One. 2014;9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090443
- Weinhouse C, Anderson OS, Bergin IL, Vandenbergh DJ, Gyekis JP, Dingman M
   a., et al. Dose-dependent incidence of hepatic tumors in adult mice following
   perinatal exposure to bisphenol A. Environ Health Perspect. 2014;122: 485–491.
   doi:10.1289/ehp.1307449
- 111. Alonso-Magdalena P, Vieira E, Soriano S, Menes L, Burks D, Quesada I, et al. Bisphenol a exposure during pregnancy disrupts glucose homeostasis in mothers and adult male offspring. Environ Health Perspect. 2010;118: 1243–1250. doi:10.1289/ehp.1001993
- 112. Van Esterik JCJ, Dollé MET, Lamoree MH, van Leeuwen SPJ, Hamers T, Legler J, et al. Programming of metabolic effects in C57BL/6JxFVB mice by exposure to bisphenol A during gestation and lactation. Toxicology. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2014;321: 40–52. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2014.04.001
- Somm E, Schwitzgebel VM, Toulotte A, Cederroth CR, Combescure C, Nef S, et al. Perinatal exposure to bisphenol a alters early adipogenesis in the rat. Environ Health Perspect. 2009;117: 1549–55. doi:10.1289/ehp.11342
- 114. García-Arevalo M, Alonso-Magdalena P, Santos JR Dos, Quesada I, Carneiro EM, Nadal A. Exposure to bisphenol-A during pregnancy partially mimics the effects of a high-fat diet altering glucose homeostasis and gene expression in adult male mice. PLoS One. 2014;9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0100214
- 115. Kim JH, Sartor M a, Rozek LS, Faulk C, Anderson OS, Jones TR, et al. Perinatal bisphenol A exposure promotes dose-dependent alterations of the mouse methylome. BMC Genomics. 2014;15: 30. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-15-30
- 116. Ma Y, Xia W, Wang DQ, Wan YJ, Xu B, Chen X, et al. Hepatic DNA methylation modifications in early development of rats resulting from perinatal BPA exposure

contribute to insulin resistance in adulthood. Diabetologia. 2013;56: 2059–2067. doi:10.1007/s00125-013-2944-7

- 117. Selvaratnam J., Guan H., Koropatnick J., Yang K. Metallothionein-I- and -IIdeficient mice display increased susceptibility to cadmium-induced fetal growth restriction. Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab. 2013;305: E727–E735. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00157.2013
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P. Molecular Biology of the Cell, Fourth Edition. Molecular Biology. 2002. p. 1616.
- 119. Kruger L. Methods in Pain Research. CRC Press; 2001. p. 181.
- 120. Hsu SD, Cardell RR, Drake RL. Maternal malnutrition does not affect fetal hepatic glycogen synthase ontogeny. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38: 1500–1504. doi:10.1007/BF01308611
- Westmacott A, Burke ZD, Oliver G, Slack JMW, Tosh D. C/EBPalpha and
   C/EBPbeta are markers of early liver development. Int J Dev Biol. 2006;50: 653–657. doi:10.1387/ijdb.062146aw
- IRIS. Reference dose for chronic oral exposure: Bisphenol A. Integrated Risk Information System CASRN 80-05-7(US-EPA IRIS Substance File) [Internet].
   2012. Available: Available online http://www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0356.htm.
- 123. Tan EH, Hooi SC, Laban M, Wong E, Ponniah S, Wee A, et al. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha knock-in mice exhibit early liver glycogen storage and reduced susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2005;65: 10330– 10337. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4486
- 124. Gruppuso P a, Bienieki TC, Faris R a. The relationship between differentiation and proliferation in late gestation fetal rat hepatocytes. Pediatr Res. 1999;46: 14–19.
- 125. Brannick KE, Craig ZR, Himes a. D, Peretz JR, Wang W, Flaws J a., et al. Prenatal Exposure to Low Doses of Bisphenol A Increases Pituitary Proliferation

and Gonadotroph Number in Female Mice Offspring at Birth. Biol Reprod. 2012;87: 82–82. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.112.100636

- 126. Timchenko N a, Harris TE, Wilde M, Bilyeu T a, Burgess-Beusse BL, Finegold MJ, et al. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha regulates p21 protein and hepatocyte proliferation in newborn mice. Mol Cell Biol. 1997;17: 7353–7361.
- 127. Diehl AM, Johns DC, Yang S, Lin H, Yin M, Matelis L a., et al. Adenovirusmediated transfer of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein-α identifies a dominant antiproliferative role for this isoform in hepatocytes. J Biol Chem. 1996;271: 7343–7350. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.13.7343
- 128. Hendricks-Taylor LR, Darlington GJ. Inhibition of cell proliferation by C/EBP alpha occurs in many cell types, does not require the presence of p53 or Rb, and is not affected by large T-antigen. Nucleic Acids Res. 1995;23: 4726–4733. doi:5g0341 [pii]
- 129. Mischoulon D, Rana B, Bucher NL, Farmer SR. Growth-dependent inhibition of CCAAT enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP alpha) gene expression during hepatocyte proliferation in the regenerating liver and in culture. Mol Cell Biol. 1992;12: 2553–2560.
- Flodby P, Antonson P, Barlow C, Blanck a, Porsch-Hällström I, Xanthopoulos KG. Differential patterns of expression of three C/EBP isoforms, HNF-1, and HNF-4 after partial hepatectomy in rats. Experimental cell research. 1993. pp. 248–256. doi:0014-4827/93
- Sluyser M. Apoptosis in Normal Development and Cancer. CRC Press; 2002. p. p.275.
- 132. Roberts R a, Soames a R, Gill JH, James NH, Wheeldon EB. Non-genotoxic hepatocarcinogens stimulate DNA synthesis and their withdrawal induces apoptosis, but in different hepatocyte populations. Carcinogenesis. 1995;16: 1693– 1698.

- Lowe SW, Cepero E, Evan G. Intrinsic tumour suppression. Nature. 2004;432: 307–315. doi:10.1038/nature03098
- Tao LL, Cheng YY, Ding D, Mei S, Xu JW, Yu J, et al. C/EBP-α ameliorates CCl
  4-induced liver fibrosis in mice through promoting apoptosis of hepatic stellate
  cells with little apoptotic effect on hepatocytes in vitro and in vivo. Apoptosis.
  2012;17: 492–502. doi:10.1007/s10495-012-0700-y
- Lowe SW, Lin a W. Apoptosis in cancer. Carcinogenesis. 2000;21: 485–495. doi:10.1093/carcin/21.3.485
- 136. Wing YK, Miller DJ, Wilkins AP, Dear MS, Wright JN, Osmond C, et al. Maternal low protein diet restricted to the preimplantation period induces a gender-specific change on hepatic gene expression in rat fetuses. Mol Reprod Dev. 2007;74: 48–56. doi:10.1002/mrd.20606
- 137. Guo C, Li C, Myatt L, Nathanielsz PW, Sun K. Sexually dimorphic effects of maternal nutrient reduction on expression of genes regulating cortisol metabolism in fetal baboon adipose and liver tissues. Diabetes. 2013;62: 1175–1185. doi:10.2337/db12-0561
- 138. Drake AJ, O'Shaughnessy PJ, Bhattacharya S, Monteiro A, Kerrigan D, Goetz S, et al. In utero exposure to cigarette chemicals induces sex-specific disruption of one-carbon metabolism and DNA methylation in the human fetal liver. BMC Med. 2015;13: 1–12. doi:10.1186/s12916-014-0251-x
- 139. O'Shaughnessy PJ, Monteiro A, Bhattacharya S, Fowler P a. Maternal smoking and fetal sex significantly affect metabolic enzyme expression in the human fetal liver. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96: 2851–2860. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1437
- 140. Wang L, Shen L, Ping J, Zhang L, Liu Z, Wu Y, et al. Intrauterine metabolic programming alteration increased susceptibility to non-alcoholic adult fatty liver disease in prenatal caffeine-exposed rat offspring. Toxicol Lett. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2014;224: 311–318. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2013.11.006

- 141. Castillo P, Ibáñez F, Guajardo A, Llanos MN, Ronco AM. Impact of Cadmium Exposure during Pregnancy on Hepatic Glucocorticoid Receptor Methylation and Expression in Rat Fetus. PLoS One. 2012;7: 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044139
- Vandenbergh JG. Animal models and studies of in utero endocrine disruptor effects. ILAR J. 2004;45: 438–442.
- 143. Penaloza C, Estevez B, Orlanski S, Sikorska M, Walker R, Smith C, et al. Sex of the cell dictates its response: differential gene expression and sensitivity to cell death inducing stress in male and female cells. FASEB J. 2009;23: 1869–1879. doi:10.1096/fj.08-119388
- 144. Chen X, McClusky R, Chen J, Beaven SW, Tontonoz P, Arnold AP, et al. The number of X chromosomes causes sex differences in adiposity in mice. PLoS Genet. 2012;8. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002709
- 145. Gabory A, Attig L, Junien C. Sexual dimorphism in environmental epigenetic programming. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2009;304: 8–18. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.02.015
- 146. Halmos B, Huettner CS, Kocher O, Ferenczi K, Karp DD, Tenen DG. Downregulation and antiproliferative role of C/EBPalpha in lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2002;62: 528–534.
- 147. Wei J, Sun X, Chen Y, Li Y, Song L, Zhou Z, et al. Perinatal exposure to bisphenol A exacerbates nonalcoholic steatohepatitis-like phenotype in male rat offspring fed on a high-fat diet. J Endocrinol. 2014;222: 313–325. doi:10.1530/JOE-14-0356
- Steinhoff G. Regenerative Medicine: From Protocol to Patient. Springer Science & Business Media; 2013. p. 1241.

- 149. Bailey S a, Zidell RH, Perry RW. Relationships between organ weight and body/brain weight in the rat: what is the best analytical endpoint? Toxicol Pathol. 2004;32: 448–466. doi:10.1080/01926230490465874
- Johnson PF. Molecular stop signs: regulation of cell-cycle arrest by C/EBP transcription factors. J Cell Sci. 2005;118: 2545–2555. doi:10.1242/jcs.02459
- Lanoue L, Liu XJ, Koski KG. Postnatal profiles of glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis are modified in rat pups by maternal dietary glucose restriction. J Nutr. 1999;129: 820–827.
- 152. Kalhan S, Parimi P. Gluconeogenesis in the fetus and neonate. Semin Perinatol. 2000;24: 94–106. doi:10.1053/sp.2000.6360
- 153. Girard J. Metabolic adaptations to change of nutrition at birth. Biol Neonate.1990;58 Suppl 1: 3–15. doi:10.1159/000243294
- 154. Benvenisty N, Mencher D, Meyuhas O, Razin A, Reshef L. Sequential changes in DNA methylation patterns of the rat phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene during development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1985;82: 267–271. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt =Citation&list\_uids=2578665\nhttp://www.pnas.org/content/82/2/267.full.pdf
- 155. Yang J, Croniger CM, Lekstrom-Himes J, Zhang P, Fenyus M, Tenen DG, et al. Metabolic response of mice to a postnatal ablation of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha. J Biol Chem. 2005;280: 38689–38699. doi:10.1074/jbc.M503486200
- 156. Liu H-K, Perrier S, Lipina C, Finlay D, McLauchlan H, Hastie CJ, et al.
  Functional characterisation of the regulation of CAAT enhancer binding protein alpha by GSK-3 phosphorylation of Threonines 222/226. BMC Mol Biol. 2006;7: 14. doi:10.1186/1471-2199-7-14
- 157. Lee YH, Sauer B, Johnson PF, Gonzalez FJ. Disruption of the c/ebp alpha gene in adult mouse liver. Mol Cell Biol. 1997;17: 6014–6022.

- 158. Inoue Y, Inoue J, Lambert G, Yim SH, Gonzalez FJ. Disruption of hepatic C/EBP?? results in impaired glucose tolerance and age-dependent hepatosteatosis. J Biol Chem. 2004;279: 44740–44748. doi:10.1074/jbc.M405177200
- Barros RP a, Gustafsson J-Å. Estrogen receptors and the metabolic network. Cell Metab. 2011;14: 289–299. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2011.08.005
- Bigsby R, Caperell-Grant A. The role for estrogen receptor-alpha and prolactin receptor in sex-dependent DEN-induced liver tumorigenesis. Carcinogenesis. 2011;
- 161. Lax ER, Tamulevicius P, Müller a, Schriefers H. Hepatic nuclear estrogen receptor concentrations in the rat--influence of age, sex, gestation, lactation and estrous cycle. J Steroid Biochem. 1983;19: 1083–1088. doi:10.1016/0022-4731(83)90400-4
- 162. Liss A, Ooi CH, Zjablovskaja P, Benoukraf T, Radomska HS, Ju C, et al. The gene signature in CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein α dysfunctional acute myeloid leukemia predicts responsiveness to histone deacetylase inhibitors. Haematologica. 2014;99: 697–705. doi:10.3324/haematol.2013.093278
- 163. Ohlstein J, Strong A, McLachlan J, Gimble J, Burow M, Bunnell B. Bisphenol A enhances adipogenic differentiation of human adipose stromal/stem cells. J Mol Endocrinol. 2014;53: 345–353.
- 164. Engblom D, Kornfeld J, Schwake L, Tronche F, Reimann A, Beug H, et al. Direct glucocorticoid receptor – Stat5 interaction in hepatocytes controls body size and maturation-related gene expression. 2007; 1157–1162. doi:10.1101/gad.426007.and
- 165. Ramos RA, Nishio Y, Maiyar AC, Simon KAYE, Ridder CC, Ge Y, et al. Glucocorticoid-Stimulated CCAAT / Enhancer-Binding Protein a Expression Is Required for Steroid-Induced G 1 Cell Cycle Arrest of Minimal-Deviation Rat Hepatoma Cells. 1996;16: 5288–5301.

- 166. Chou JY, Wan YJ, Sakiyama T. Regulation of rat liver maturation in vitro by glucocorticoids. Mol Cell Biol. 1988;8: 203–209.
- Giannopoulos G. Ontogeny of Glucocorticoid Receptors in Rat Liver. J Biol Chem. 1975;250: 5847–5851.

## Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Bianca DeBenedictis
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada Honours B.A. Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience
Honours and Awards:	Obstetrics & Gynaecology Graduate Scholarship 2013-2014
	NSERC Undergraduate Student Research Award 2012
	Dean's Honor List 2010-2013
Conferences/ Presentations	Paul Harding Research Awards Day (London ON) Oral Presentation 2014
	Canada-Israel Symposium on Brain Plasticity, Learning, and Education (London ON) Poster Presentation 2013
	Ontario Undergraduate Psychology Thesis Conference (Guelph ON) Poster Presentation 2013
	SRCD Biennial Meeting (Seattle WA) Poster Presentation 2013
Related Work Experience:	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario Physiology 2130 – Introduction to Human Physiology 2013-2015
Publications:	

DeBenedictis B, Morton JB, Daley M. (2014). A Method for Investigating Age-Related Differences in the Functional Connectivity of Cognitive Control Networks Associated with DCCS Performance. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 87. doi: 10.3791/51003.

DeBenedictis B, Guan H, Yang K. (2015). Prenatal Exposure to Bisphenol A Disrupts Fetal Liver Maturation in a Sex-Specific Manner. Submitted.